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Chairman’s letter

In 2011, the European economic and political crisis deepened 
further, spreading concern across the world. The uncertainty 
surrounding the Euro’s future hit consumer and business 
confidence alike, discouraging spending and investing, 
particularly in developed countries. Towards the end of last 
year, even the most promising emerging countries began 
to show signs of strain due to lower exports. Meanwhile, 
commodity prices remained high and large retail customers 
continued to gain influence, thus squeezing margins for 
many food producers.
 Despite this negative environment, we are confident 
that the healthy state of the company will carry us through 
this turbulent period. Barilla Group’s 2011 results reflect 
the strength of the corporation. Consolidated revenues 
stood at Euro 3,916 million, down a mere 2.8% year-on-
year. The Group’s operating profit produced an EBITDA 
of Euro 477 million. Although lower than the Euro 556 
million recorded in 2010, the EBITDA to sales ratio is very 
satisfactory. Furthermore, the Group’s financial health is 
confirmed as, after a substantial reduction in 2010, debt 
levels remained largely unchanged at Euro 688 million at 
the year end. In 2011, in keeping with our corporate mission 
to ensure that our brands enjoy leadership positions in Italy 
and internationally, we continued to invest in research and 
development to constantly improve our products.
 However, we are not out of the woods yet. To overcome 
the present macroeconomic situation, which is likely to 
remain challenging for the foreseeable future, the best 
strategy is to focus on what we have always done well – on 
our core business. We have to muster the courage to exit 
some of the non-strategic areas in order to focus all our 
resources on developing pasta, sauces and ready meals 
across the world – from the Americas to the Far East – while 
strengthening our branded bakery products in Italy and 
other major European markets. 

We have already taken some steps in this direction. With 
the sale in Italy of Number1, we got out of the logistics 
business, which was not strategic for us. We are also 
looking to divest Lieken, our German subsidiary, which 
has increasingly become a specialized private label bread 
business, a market that does not fit our long-term strategy. 
These transactions will enable us to free up resources to 
continue to invest in the Group’s core business.

In 2011, we invested a total Euro 146 million, a part 
of which was incurred to begin funding a new Italian 
manufacturing plant for sauces that will be sold around 
the world. The plant, which will officially open after the 
summer, is an example of how one can invest in Italy with 
a global outlook. The new pasta ready meals, launched 
starting from February in the USA, Germany, France, Austria 
and Switzerland, demonstrate that Barilla can adapt its 
offer to the eating habits of different countries. Thanks to 
their innovative packaging and outstanding quality, the 

ready meals help to promote Italian gastronomy around the 
world. International expansion continues to be a key driver 
of our growth and it will play an increasingly vital role in our 
business. Currently, 57% of our revenue is generated from 
international sales. 

For our bakery products, investments in steam baking 
technology enabled the manufacture of delicious cookies 
with a lower sugar and fat content. In Italy, where the 
economic crisis has been acutely felt, we were able to 
defend our Barilla, Mulino Bianco and Pavesi brands, each 
maintaining the leadership in their own category. 

Tested against a particularly complex environment, Barilla 
Group continued to assert itself as a key market player by 
leveraging its corporate values and offering quality products 
inspired by the Mediterranean diet model. We chose to limit 
price increases as much as possible in recognition of our 
customers’ diminished purchasing power due to the adverse 
effects of the economic crisis. 

Through the Barilla Center for Food and Nutrition (BCFN), 
the Group continues to be at the cutting edge of the 
global debate over key issues relating to food. The research 
carried out by the BCFN are a constant inspiration to make 
goods which not only are delicious, but can also contribute 
to improve the health of people and of our planet. The 
BCFN’s first book, “Eating Planet 2012”, recently launched 
in Europe and the USA, is helping to raise awareness and 
understanding of the huge challenges facing the Earth. The 
mere goal of maximizing profits is not enough. We must 
tackle the real priority facing us: how to solve the food 
paradoxes on our planet, where more than one billion are 
undernourished and an equal number are overweight or 
obese.

Given the huge challenges we’re facing, we should revisit the 
way we behave both at an individual and corporate level. 
We must strive to advance the awareness of the value of 
food, educating people to eat better and – in some cases – 
less. Today more than ever, we must ask ourselves what the 
social role of a corporation is; what value we can and must 
bring to the public and to the planet in which we live. In 
agriculture, we must rediscover the value and dignity of land 
and of farm labor. This is what we strive to convey to our 
customers every day, making them aware that in the pack of 
pasta or box of cookies they have chosen there is a wealth 
of expertise and knowledge, coupled with the passion of 
those who have created, produced, and delivered to the 
shelves the precious gifts of the land.

Guido Barilla
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Directors’ Report

2011 was marked by the surge of uncertainties regarding 
the future of the Euro stemming from the progressive we-
akening of sovereign debt and poor growth. The intrinsic 
institutional weakness of the Euro led the markets to believe 
that the breakdown of the Eurozone was improbable but not 
impossible and, at one point, Italy risked to be in the difficult 
position of being “too large to be saved”. Recent measures 
undertaken by the Italian government have been aimed at 
controlling the deficit and containing the increase in interest 
rates on public debt (unsustainable in the long-term); au-
stere fiscal measures were adopted which immediately gave 
rise to further negative market expectations and a fall in the 
spending power of families with a consequent drop in con-
sumption (estimated at being down 1.5%, equivalent to Euro 
2 billion of global turnover).
 On the other hand, on an international level, the remai-
ning two thirds of the world economy outside the Eurozone 
(including Germany) recorded respectable levels of growth 
(albeit slower than previous year trends), despite the fact 
that towards the end of the year the more dynamic emer-
ging markets started to show signs of slowdown due to 
lower exports as a result of poor economic growth in deve-
loped countries. With regard to raw materials, price indices 
remained in line with worldwide demand and did not show 
signs of the expected decreases, also as a result of conti-
nuing speculative investment. This failure to reduce prices 
put increased pressure on the margins of Italian companies, 
that found themselves in the position of not being able to 
increase prices due to low internal demand, the expected 
devaluation (although moderate) of the Euro (that further 
increased energy prices) and growing interest rates linked to 
the refinancing of public debt. Operators in the fast moving 
consumer goods industry have suffered greatly in these 
tough conditions. The Barilla Holding Group and its stake-
holders are extremely satisfied with the results achieved at 
such a challenging time.
 Despite the existence of these extremely negative 
factors on the macro economy, the Group’s consolidated 

revenue amounted to Euro 3,916 million (2010 – Euro 4,029 
million), a 2.8% fall on the previous year. Considering the 
same scope of consolidation (excluding the revenue of the 
subsidiaries sold in 2010), revenue was stable.
 Consolidated profit for the year amounted to Euro 76 
million that was affected by impairment losses recogni-
zed on Intangible Assets and extraordinary expenditure of 
approximately Euro 80 million. This compared to Euro 27 
million of profit in 2010. Consolidated profit attributable 
to owners of the parent (net of non-controlling interests) 
totaled Euro 63 million compared to Euro 21 million for the 
previous year. Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 
was equal to approximately Euro 13 million. 

Transactions involving investments

Barilla Holding Società per Azioni’s corporate structure did not 
change in 2011: the investments in operating companies are 
mainly held indirectly through the sub-holding Barilla Iniziative 
S.r.l., which is 85% owned by Barilla Holding Società per Azioni.
 The following commentary provides a detailed review of 
the activities of the individual companies and Barilla Holding 
Società per Azioni (“the Company”), in accordance with the 
disclosure requirements of article 2428 of the Italian Civil Code 
and article 40 of Legislative Decree 127 of 9 April 1991.

Accounting standards – International  
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards – IFRS (hereinafter “IAS or IFRS”) endorsed by the 
European Union. The accounting policies adopted are detailed 
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Barilla Holding Società per Azioni

Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Lieken

General information

All amounts are expressed in thousands of Euro except where 
otherwise indicated. All comparisons made throughout this re-
port and the consolidated financial statements refer to the fi-
nancial information for the previous reporting period (disclosed 
in brackets). Percentages (on margins and changes) were calcu-
lated based on the values expressed in thousands of Euro. The 
Group, of which Barilla Holding Società per Azioni is the hol-
ding company, is hereinafter defined as “the Barilla Holding 
Group” or “the Group”. Where comments relate specifically 
to the parent company, or the individual subsidiaries, the full 
name and legal form of the companies is stated.

Consolidated financial highlights

The Group’s key financial indicators presented below comprise 
the results of businesses that were disposed of during the year 
up until the date on which it ceased to exercise control over 
them.
 EBIT (operating profit from continuing operations) 
amounted to Euro 296 million (2010 – Euro 358 million), cor-
responding to 7.6% of the revenue (2010 – 8.9%). 
 Profit before income tax amounted to Euro 176 million 
(2010 – Euro 185 million). 
 Current and deferred income taxes for the year 
amounted to Euro 100 million (2010 – Euro 137 million), cor-
responding to an effective tax rate, excluding negative extra-
ordinary items, of 39% (2010 – 41%). 
 EBITDA (operating profit from continuing operations 
before depreciation and amortization and impairment losses 
on property, plant and equipment and intangibles) is equal to 
Euro 477 million (2010 - Euro 556 million), corresponding to 
12.2% of revenue (2010 – 13.8%). 
 The level of net indebtedness settled at Euro 688 million 
(2010 – Euro 683 million); this total is analyzed further in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements.
 The current financial requirements of the Group are met 
in full by the following arrangements (which are further detai-
led in the notes to the consolidated financial statements):
•	 debenture	loans	issued	by	Barilla	France	S.A.S.	for	a	total	

of US Dollars $472 million placed with US institutional 
investors in December 2003 and July 2011, which are 
divided into several tranches (maturing between 2013 
and 2023 as detailed below). These loans, including the 
related hedging instruments valued at mark-to-market, 
corresponded to Euro 363 million at the year-end;

•	 a	five-year	revolving	credit	line	of	Euro	850	million,	se-
cured in June 2011 by Barilla Iniziative S.r.l., Barilla G. e 
R. Fratelli Società per Azioni, Barilla France S.A.S. and a 
group of 12 leading international banks. A total of Euro 
360 million had been drawndown at 31 December 2011;

•	 given	the	current	credit	restrictions	imposed	by	the	ban-
king system, the above arrangements – together with 
positive cash flows generated from operations – ensured 
that the Group had sufficient financial resources to meet 
its payment obligations.

The financial strategy adopted by the Group for some time 
now is to maintain a high level of medium-term debt. The 

credit facility of Euro 1,750 million entered into in July 2007 
and due to mature in 2012 was cancelled. The timing of 
transactions has allowed recent credit restrictions and the 
consequent increase in spreads, to be avoided. 
 The Group had undrawn facilities of Euro 490 million at 
31 December 2011. The cost of the most significant portion 
of debt carries a spread that is more favorable than those 
applied on today’s financial markets. 
 The Group also has a significant level of short-term 
financial assets; amounting to Euro 110 million (further de-
tails are provided in note 7 to the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements). 
 The economic crisis in Greece has not had a particularly 
negative impact on the Group despite its strong presence in 
this market.

Group structure and organisation

The operating subsidiaries of Barilla Holding Società per 
Azioni manufacture and sell more than one thousand types 
of pasta, sauces, and bakery products, both in Italy and 
worldwide.
 The current Group structure is divided into two opera-
ting sub-holdings: Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
and Lieken AG, together with their subsidiaries (in order to 
simplify the organization structure Barilla Iniziative S.r.l. and 
the other non-manufacturing sub-holdings are not shown).
 

The Group operates directly in 21 countries, exports its pro-
ducts to more than 100 countries and owns 41 production 
facilities across 9 countries.
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The Barilla brand has its roots in a small bread and pasta
store opened in Parma in 1877. Today it is the number one
pasta in Italy and around the world. Thanks to the best hard
wheat and impressive modern technologies, Barilla supplies
millions around the world with pasta that always cooks to a
perfect al dente texture, as well as ready-to-eat pasta sauces.

Voiello was established in 1879 as a small store in Torre
Annunziata, a small town outside Naples, a world capital of
pasta making since the 16th century. Voiello pasta comes
in all the most popular Neapolitan shapes. Its secret is
the uneven surface achieved with bronze dies. Voiello was
acquired by Barilla in 1973.

BARILLA G. E R. FRATELLI

Founded in 1975, Mulino Bianco is truly a part of the cultural 
fabric of Italian food and of the everyday diet of Italian
families. This brand offers simple, genuine bakery products in 
all categories that are perfect for eating at home or on the go.

The Pavesi brand was established in 1937 by Mario Pavesi, an 
inventive baker and entrepreneur in the city of Novara. It of-
fers a wide range of bakery products and pastries, all of which 
have unique flavor and rely on well-developed production 
technologies. Pavesi was acquired by Barilla in 1992.

Academia Barilla is an international project implemented in
2004. It is dedicated to developing and promoting regional
Italian gastronomy as a unique part of the world’s cultural
heritage.

The leading pasta brand in Greece, Misko was established in 
1927 and represents Greece’s substantial pasta tradition; its 
logo depicts the monk Akakio on his donkey, going to buy 
pasta at the village market. Barilla acquired Misko in 1991.

Founded in 1997, Number 1 is an avant-garde organization
created in order to compete effectively in the area of
logistics.

Launched in 1970 on the baked goods market in France, the
Harrys brand today is leader in the soft bread market and
an important player in the morning goods market. Quality
and innovation are two of the most important key success
factors.

Founded in Sweden in 1919, Wasa is the world’s largest
producer of crispbreads. It distributes its many rye and
wheat products in more than 40 countries. Barilla acquired
Wasa in 1999.

Established in 1977, Filiz is one of the top pasta producers in
Turkey, one of the biggest pasta consuming countries. Barilla
acquired Filiz in 1994.

Our brands
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Yemina, created in 1952, and Vesta, in 1966, are two of the le-
ading Mexican brands. Barilla entered that market by forming 
a joint venture with the Mexican Grupo Herdez in 2002.

Fritz Lieken was the first to offer packaged long-shelf-life
bread in Germany in 1925. Today the Lieken Urkorn name is
synonymous with bread in Germany. Lieken Urkorn joined
Barilla in 2002.

Since its establishment in 1963, Golden Toast has been a 
key player in the toast bread market. It is now expanding 
into pre-baked rolls and bread.

LIEKEN AG
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 Main resources Market Trend 

Durum wheat Europe (Bologna) 

Average Unit Price
Variation vs PY

2010 = 100

E/t
%

Index

2010
 

191

2011
 

293
+54%

154

1H’ 11
 

287
+50%

150

2H’ 11
 

300
57%
157

The international economy 

The downturn in growth, a widespread deleveraging process 
and, the fall in consumer disposable income in Italy, led to sta-
gnant sales volumes for the Barilla Group, with a pricing policy 
more contained than the rate of inflation due to increased 
competition for consumers with lower purchasing power cau-
sed by an increasing tax burden, and a drop in margins caused 
by continued worldwide demand for raw materials that was 
highly variable and not affected by low European growth. 
 New products were not well received by consumers 
for the above reasons; while appreciated for the technical-
quality innovativeness, high-end price placement pre-
vented a strong turnover. The most troubling aspect of 
the financial crisis is the above-mentioned decrease in 
consumption, including food expenditure, due to a deterio-
ration in families’ spending power, as this affects Barilla’s 
target middle segment consumer. This was aggravated by 
competition in the distribution sector, not only between 
the different brands in the fast moving consumer goods 
industry, but also across the various distribution channels. 
The increased presence of products “on offer”, centered 
on a number of specific categories, and the price war in 
the modern trade, clearly demonstrate the visible tensions 
in the trade business that no longer acts as an impartial 
bridge between production and consumers but rather as a 
key player in an independent business strategy. Decreased 
consumption and widespread competition in the retail tra-

de have increased levels of uncertainty for decision makers 
making the situation even more complex.
 This prompted the Group to strengthen its efforts in the 
following areas:
•	 firstly,	new	significant	levels	of	investment	(despite	the	

recession) aimed at rationalizing production to identify 
new efficiencies and reduce production and infrastructure 
costs (confirming the Group’s strong investment policy);

•	 defense	of	sales	volumes,	accepting	the	competitive	price	
challenge through new customer promotional activities 
geared towards “value for money”;

•	 absorption	of	raw	materials	cost	fluctuations	into	sales	
margins without transfer to the end consumer price.

 The trend of increasing raw materials’ prices continued 
into 2011 (mainly oil prices with the subsequent knock-
on effect), which led to a significant rise in our purchase 
costs despite effective hedging transactions that mitiga-
ted the overall impact.

The continued growth in demand for agricultural products 
explained by a number of factors (new consumption by emer-
ging markets, use in animal feed, use for bio-fuels and the 
abnormally high increase in China’s demand for corn), toge-
ther with insufficient production capacity to meet this level 
of demand, led to a significant erosion in stock levels that is 
expected to result in heavy price increases.
 Furthermore, high price volatility persists, also due to 
the strong influence of financial trading on the commodities 
markets, in addition to local trade policy (duties and subsidies) 
that have had an effect on prices.

In order to increase the degree of protection against risk 
exposure, the Group has developed new risk management 
policies and strategies for its key commodities.

260

210

160

jan 10 july 10 jan 11   july 11 
110

310

360

  Early 2012 shows signs of further increases caused by 
the same factors that led the price increases in 2011.
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Group operating review

Barilla G. e R. Fratelli 
The activities of the Barilla G. e R. Fratelli group in 2011 
may be categorized into the following business units:
•	 Meal	Solutions	Business	Unit,	comprises	the	produc-

tion and sale of first courses (pastas and sauces) un-
der the Barilla, Voiello, Misko, Filiz, Yemina and Vesta 
brands, in Italy and the rest of the world;

•	 Bakery	Business	Unit,	consisting	of	the	manufacture	
and sale of bakery products in Italy and overseas, 
principally through the Mulino Bianco, Pavesi, WASA 
and Harrys brands;

•	 Number	1	Business	Unit,	which	provides	logistics	ser-
vices both to Group companies and third parties.

Meal Solutions Business Unit 
Pasta
2011 witnessed a contraction in pasta consumption and a signi-
ficant decrease in value terms in the two key markets in which 
the Group operates. The market in Italy suffered a 3% decline 
both in volume and value compared to the previous year, while 
in Germany the fall in volume was more contained at 1% but 
more significant in value as this fell 2%. In the smaller, although 
still key markets such as Sweden and Switzerland, both market 
and volumes declined 2%. Results were more positive in France 
and the United States, where both the market and volumes 
recorded 2% growth; in France in particular market value in-
creased by 3%. 2011 marked a positive year for the market in 
Turkey, with growth of 1% in volumes and 7% in value terms, 
which was also caused by the knock-on effects of raw material 
cost increases on prices that in 2010 had created significant pri-
ce pressure that had forced down the entire market.
 Given the current scenario, Barilla employed the stra-
tegy of limiting as far as possible price increases on pasta 
in the European market throughout 2011 despite signifi-
cant increases in raw material costs. This made business 
more competitive (although margins were eroded) and 
strengthened the brand positioning as witnessed by mar-
ket share performance that recorded a marked increase 
in France (+0.8% in volume), Germany (+1.7% in volume) 
and Italy (+0.5% in volume), and remained stable or only 
slightly down in other markets (USA -0.1% in volume). 
Total turnover of the Pasta sector was in line with 2010.
 With regard to the North American market, the avera-
ge market share in the US was 27.7% in 2011, while turno-
ver in North America (US and Canada) fell by 1.8% on the 
previous year. 
 This fall was principally due to an unfavorable exchange 
rate, which accounted for 4.7%, which was offset by the 
positive contribution of increased volumes and sales prices 
of 1.1% and 4.3% respectively. Increased sales prices and 
aggressive promotional campaigns by competitors had a ne-
gative impact on product positioning in the retail market. 

Sauces and Condiments
Consumption of Ready Made Sauces in Europe was either 
stable or down slightly but overall market value increased 
between 1% and 5% depending on the country. Strong 

performances were recorded in the French market with 5% 
increases in both volumes and value, and the German mar-
ket where volumes increased by 2% and value by 5%. In 
the US market volumes grew by 2% and values by 1%.
 Overall, Barilla’s turnover generated in this segment 
was in line with 2010. 
 Varying trends were recorded across the different 
geographical locations in which the business operates. 
For example, in Italy the market in value terms grew by 
1% while Barilla’s market share fell approximately 1.1% 
due to the aggressive promotion of Private Labels, short-
term commercial strategies, and the entry of a number of 
major operators to the fresh ready-made sauces market. 
Outstanding results were achieved in France, with an 11% 
increase in sales, and Germany with 6% growth.

 
Bakery Business Unit 
The Bakery segment continued to be affected in 2011 by 
the uncertain economic climate. Although the key mar-
kets returned to growth in value terms across the whole 
of Europe, this growth was accompanied by a constant 
focus on purchasing power and, as a consequence, high 
continuing price promotions and the consolidation of the 
share of discount channels and Private Labels. In Italy, the 
overall Bakery market in which Barilla operates increased 
in 2011, with growth in the Breakfast segment, and even 
higher growth in the Breads and Out of Meal segments 
thanks to aggressive promotional campaigns by the lea-
ding players. 
 Consequently, in order to maintain the value of its 
products, Barilla was forced to increase promotional activi-
ties, although to a lower level of discounts offered compa-
red to its competitors; however, this affected market sha-
res that year-on-year fell in the Breakfast segment (mainly 
in the French Toast and Biscuits segments) and the Out of 
Meal segment; while the Bread segment remained stable 
due to the positive contribution of new product innova-
tions launched in the previous two years.
 Performance in the key overseas markets was two-speed: 
in France and Germany growth was recorded in both volumes 
and values, while in Sweden the value remained stable in va-
lue terms but suffered a significant drop in volumes. 
 This resulted in a fall in market share in the Bakery bu-
siness in France, both in terms of value and volumes, with 
a more marked fall in the Bread segment together with the 
Snacks market due to the increased presence of Private La-
bels and Brand competition.
 Market share in volume and value also fell in Germany 
and Sweden, which had a greater impact on the German 
market.
 Overall in 2011 the Bakery Business Unit suffered a 3% 
drop in volumes compared to 2010, due to the contraction 
of sales in Russia, a decline in the Business to Business sector 
in France and the fall in market share of the Breakfast and 
Snacks segment in Italy. Revenue increased by 1% against 
2010 subsequent to price list increases in the key markets 
(Italy, France and Sweden), in order to absorb, in part, conti-
nued rising raw materials costs that resulted in a significant 
loss in profitability compared to the previous year.



20

Number 1 business unit 
The integrated logistics segment continued to suffer a si-
gnificant contraction in volumes due to the dramatic dete-
rioration of an already uncertain macroeconomic climate. 
Profitability targets were met this year despite a decline in 
revenue compared to the previous year and the business 
strategy of continuously rationalizing the customer portfo-
lio. This was attained through the implementation of ratio-
nalization and cost containment programs that impacted 
both inventory and transport management.
 Market conditions changed in 2011 following intro-
duction of new transport regulations (minimum safety 
costs), that led to a radical change in the structure of this 
sector. The global design of information systems was laun-
ched across all corporate functions and paved the way for 
implementation of the new operating and administration 
infrastructure that will come on stream in 2012.

Lieken
2011 marked another important step in the Lieken group’s 
restructuring plan. 
Two factories were closed during the year and the business 
portfolio was further consolidated by exiting non-profit 
making segments. 
 Lieken continued to pursue its key growth targets in 
terms of product repositioning and customer portfolio, 
strengthening its own brands and improving supply chain ef-
ficiency through the restructuring programs. Operating pro-
fit for 2011 only partially reflects the impact of these efforts 
as they were executed in the second half of the year.
 Revenue of the Lieken group fell by 12% compared to 
the previous year principally due to the sale of the “Kamps 
Bakeries GmbH” bakeries in August 2010. On a like-for-like 
basis 2011 revenue was in line with the previous year.
 The fall in volumes resulting from the restructuring of 
the customer portfolio was offset by price increases requi-
red to cover the considerable increase in raw material costs.

Capital expenditure

During 2011, Barilla Group’s capital expenditure on pro-
perty, plant and equipment was approximately Euro 146 
million corresponding to 3.7% of revenue. 
 The Barilla G. e R. group invested approximately Euro 
124 million (2010 – Euro 133 million) in the following areas:
1) innovation, particularly in the Bakery segment through
 the installation and start-up of two product lines 

dedicated to biscuit (the Novara factory) and Snacks 
manufacturing (the Cremona factory), with the intro-
duction of steam baking technology;

2) strengthening its production facilities with construc-
tion work commencing in Rubbiano on the first ready-
made sauces factory;

3) increased industrial competitiveness, with particular fo-
cus on logistics through the automation of product mo-
vements in the Pedrignano finished goods warehouse.

The Lieken group invested approximately Euro 22 million 
on property, plant and equipment (2010 – Euro 36 million). 

Corporate governance

The Company has implemented a traditional control 
structure consisting of a Board of Directors and a Board of 
Statutory Auditors appointed by the General Meeting of 
Shareholders (GSM).
 The Board of Directors (BoD) is the body vested with 
the widest powers of ordinary and extraordinary admini-
stration with the exception of those assigned to the ge-
neral meeting of shareholders (GSM) either by law or the 
articles of association. The BoD is responsible for managing 
the business, assessing the adequacy of the organization, 
administration and accounting functions, and the review of 
the overall operating performance. The current BoD con-
sists of four members and the term of office expires with 
the next GSM called to approve the 2011 Annual Report. 
 The BoD has appointed a Supervisory Board pursuant 
to Legislative Decree 231/2001 (the Decree), which in the 
course of 2011 performed its role of preventing the com-
mission of offences pursuant to the Decree (and ensuing 
updates/amendments) by verifying the adequacy and im-
plementation of the corporate Organization, Management 
and Control Model and the Code of Ethics. 
 The BoD approved the latest edition of the Organiza-
tion, Management and Control Model on 26 October 2011 
which had been updated to reflect recent organization 
changes and regulatory developments.
 The Organization, Management and Control Model com-
prises a general section and special sections dedicated to criti-
cal offences and together with the Code of Ethics defines a set 
of principles and values that Barilla identifies with and requires 
that the directors, statutory auditors, employees, collabora-
tors, consultants, suppliers and customers adhere to. 
 The Supervisory Board (the Board) consists of three 
members who remain in office until 31 January 2014.
 The Board comprises the heads of Group Legal and 
Corporate Affairs and Group Internal Audit, and an exter-
nal member who is a university lecturer and self-employed 
professional. The Board reports its activities to the BoD on 
a half-yearly basis.
 The Board of Statutory Auditors oversees complian-
ce with the law and the articles of association, regarding 
compliance with the principles of correct administration. 
The members of the Board of Statutory Auditors are ap-
pointed for a three-year term and may be reappointed. The 
current Board of Statutory Auditors is made up of three 
permanent and two substitute auditors whose term of 
office expires on the next GSM called to approve the 2011 
annual report. 
 PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. has been engaged to 
perform the audit of the financial statements as required 
by law. It has also been engaged to audit the consolidated 
financial statements of Barilla Holding Group and those of 
the principal Group subsidiaries.
 The governance structure is developed taking into con-
sideration the operating conditions in the case of the main 
Italian subsidiaries and local legislation also in respect of 
overseas entities. More specifically, with regard to Barilla G. 
e R. Fratelli and its subsidiaries, the governance structure is 
similar to that of Barilla Holding Società per Azioni while the 
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internal control system and the Organization, Management 
and Control Model pursuant to Legislative Decree 231/2001 
are tailored to be more company specific. 

Knowledge sharing and sustainability  
of the Barilla business 

The Barilla Center for Food and Nutrition (www.barillacfn.
com) is responsible for developing the Group’s cultural 
projects. It was founded in 2009 to study major issues of 
global interest in the fields of food and nutrition employing 
a multi-disciplinary approach and to share the outcome 
of the best worldwide research with public opinion on 
four research areas: Food for Health, Food for Sustainable 
Growth, Food for All, and Food for Culture.  
 In addition to webinars, workshops and the Third In-
ternational Forum held in Milan, the international institu-
tional accreditation of the Centre continued in 2011 with 
its representatives being received by the President of the 
Italian Republic in January followed by the French and US 
embassies in Italy, where it met with opinion leaders and 
decision makers of the two countries, while discussions 
continued with European Institutions.  
 As knowledge creation and sharing is one of the 
cornerstones of Barilla’s sustainable business model, ma-
nagement of the business focuses on the constant impro-
vement of processes while respecting people’s work and 
knowledge base, minimizing the environmental impact 
and evaluating the contribution to the local territory and 
communities. This commitment is transmitted through our 
products, where constant investment in research ensures 
that we offer people nutritionally balanced foods. 
 As early as 2007, the Company defined a planning, 
monitoring and control system for sustainability, establi-
shing concrete, measurable objectives on the subjects of 
environmental management, exploiting human capital, 
nutritional research and development, sustainable supply 
chain management and relations with the community and 
consumers.  
 The key achievements in each of these areas are sum-
marized below.

Environmental management

Roll-out of the Barilla Integrated Environmental Manage-
ment System, developed in line with technical standard 
ISO 14001, continued. The Italian manufacturing facilities 
that are authorized under strict European IPPC (Integra-
ted Pollution Prevention and Control) regulations, and the 
Wasa brand manufacturing facilities that have already 
been third-party certified to ISO 14001, were joined in 
2011 by the Pedrignano and Altamura Mills (with an Inte-
grated Safety and Management System). 73% of the total 
volume of products is manufactured in factories with an 
ISO 14001 certified Environmental Management System. 
 Barilla is the first private company to develop and 
obtain third party certification on a system that assesses 
the environmental impact of its products using a Life Cycle 

Analysis tool that complies with the international EPD 
system (Environmental Product Declaration) – www.envi-
rondec.org – which allows publication of certified environ-
mental impact data.  
 Plants covered by the Emissions Trading Scheme are 
regularly certified by a third party. 
 All of the pasta making factories in Italy have a coge-
neration plant that enables the combined generation of 
electricity and thermal energy contributing to improved 
efficiency and reducing the environmental impact. 
 All of the European pasta making facilities are already 
third-party certified as are the Mulino Bianco, Pavesi and 
Wasa bakeries. 
 2011 was the second full year of implementation of 
the safety, environment and fire prevention global audit 
plan: more than 90 specific controls were carried out.

Human capital

The total number of Group employees at 31 December 
2011 was 13,141 (2010 – 14,043), comprising 4,494 (2010 
– 4,665) in Italy and 8,647 (2010 – 9,378) overseas. An 
analysis of employees compared to the previous year is 
illustrated below:

  31/12/2011 31/12/2010
 Managers and
 white-collar staff 3,299 3,315 

 Blue-collar staff 9,842 10,728 

 Total  13,141 14,043 

With regard to Human Resources, in 2011 the Barilla G. e 
R. Fratelli group continued working on the Barilla Human 
Capital Model, which integrates all People Management 
systems on an international scale.  
 New managerial development programs were launched 
in collaboration with some of the best training institutes in 
the world. Tailored career development paths were defined 
for the members of talent pools, enabling each individual to 
take on new professional challenges within the Group both 
in Italy and abroad. The selection and employment process 
continued with the expansion of the network of universities 
and recruitment companies both in Italy and throughout the 
rest of the world. With regard to industrial relations a new 
addendum contract was signed that documents significant 
progress in relation to health care, training, sustainability, 
safety and the environment. A new Group organization 
structure was established that is able to rise to the challen-
ges the business will face in the near future both in traditio-
nal, mature markets and emerging markets. 
 The long-term project to roll-out the Barilla Integrated 
Safety-at-Work Management System, developed in accor-
dance with technical standard OHSAS 18001 (Occupational 
Health and Safety Assessment Series) to guarantee better 
health and safety standards for employees through significant 
investment in training, proceeded according to plan. More spe-
cifically, the last Italian bakery (in Novara) and the two French 
factories (Talmont and La Malterie) were certified in 2011.  
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 No critical accidents involving employees occurred 
in the workplace and no actions are pending against the 
Company in respect of health and safety.  
 The Lieken group concluded the significant project of 
establishing the new organization structure together with 
a relaunch of its corporate values and the development of 
a leadership model that outlines the criteria and key skills 
for employee success. The purpose of relaunching corpo-
rate values is to strengthen the group’s identity, while the 
leadership model forms a solid framework for guiding and 
identifying the level of employees’ work and social skills. 
The model provides a constant reference point to accom-
pany this improvement process throughout the whole 
organization. Continuous improvements in this area and 
communication of the results attained will support the fu-
ture strategy and success of the Lieken group.

Research and development activities

The constant commitment of the Group Research, Deve-
lopment & Quality team in the planning and development 
of innovative products resulted in numerous initiatives 
over the last year including, among others, the expansion 
of the “Storie di Frutta” range, the new range of steam-ba-
ked biscuits and the new Piccolini line of vegetable sauces. 
 In order to support the development of products inspired 
by the Mediterranean Diet, work continued on the selection 
and experimentation of ingredients, processes and innovative 
technologies, the assessment of new prototypes and their 
sensorial, nutritional and safety qualities, in order to evaluate 
their potential in ever-widening geographic areas.
 The extensive nutritional improvement program ac-
companied by guidelines developed in conjunction with 
the Nutritional Advisory Board, culminated in the reformu-
lation of more than 100 products, with an 11% reduction 
in salt content in the Group’s worldwide product portfolio 
 The Group invested Euro 40,8 million in 2011 (2010 – 
Euro 42,5 million) on research and development activities 
on processes and products.

Sustainability supply chain management 
and relations with the local territory

Barilla purchases around 800 raw materials and 50 types of 
packaging materials from approximately 1,200 worldwide 
suppliers. 
 Barilla’s integrated supply chain model aims at involving 
all parties in long-term strategic partnership projects. Procu-
rement of materials through an integrated supply chain gua-
rantees greater control over production quality, more stability 
in pricing, often a key factor in determining a manufacturer’s 
level of investment, and contributes to the well-being of the 
local territory by creating jobs and presenting new oppor-
tunities for the community. This is the case with the durum 
wheat supply chain, where Barilla established agreements 
with partners in the supply chain that optimizes the selection 
of varieties, seed multiplication, and wheat cultivation and 
storage standards; in 2011 these agreements covered appro-

ximately 40% of total purchases. Collaboration in the local 
territory generally improves supply chain efficiency: more 
than 70% of durum wheat used in 2011 in the various Barilla 
Group brands was grown in the country in which the pasta 
was manufactured. With regard to supply chain responsibility 
that is open to criticism from human rights and environmen-
tal activists, 100% of cocoa and palm oil suppliers are mem-
bers of international organizations responsible for guarante-
eing sustainability along the respective supply chains.

Consumer relations

Barilla’s mission is to “offer high quality, tasty, safe pro-
ducts”. Product quality control is at the center of a mana-
gement system that covers all aspects of the supply chain, 
from raw materials’ selection up to the point of sale. This 
commitment resulted in an outstanding level of complian-
ce of finished goods in 2011. The objective of strengthe-
ning customer relations is also met through the quality of 
product labeling and information provided on dedicated 
websites.

Risk management

In order to consolidate the corporate risk management 
activities, implementation of the Enterprise Risk Mana-
gement project continued in 2011. The aim is to provide 
management with a tool that monitors the Group’s current 
level of operating risk in order to ensure that it is in line 
with the Group’s acceptable level of strategic risk exposure.
 Starting from 2010 the Company embarked on a pro-
cess that culminated in the identification of its accepted 
exposure to risk (Financial & Reputational Risk Appetite) 
and common parameters to assess each event at Group le-
vel. Moreover, definition of the corporate risk register (Risk 
Register) enabled identification of those risk areas to which 
the Group is potentially exposed and assigned manage-
ment responsibilities for each risk identified to the relevant 
organization departments (Risk Ownership). 
 Specific projects were also developed in 2011 with the 
purpose of assessing the key areas of risk for the business:
•	 raw material price volatility (in particular durum 

wheat and soft-wheat) focusing on a combination of 
physical and financial hedges and employing tools to 
measure and assess their effectiveness;

•	 analysis of risk from production interruption, com-
mencing with mapping of key business products (both 
Bakery and Meal Solutions), identifying alternatives 
and available production capacity, through to propo-
sing technical solutions to minimize the existence of 
critical phases in the Group’s production and distribu-
tion network;

•	 mitigate business conduct risk in those areas where 
global governance requirements are not satisfied by 
establishing common, shared policies;

•	 analysis of the risks, and impact on the corporate busi-
ness model, arising from macro-economic events in the 
geographical locations in which the Group operates
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With regard to Information Technology risks, the Group 
has a disaster recovery service in place for the majority of 
its applications, in particular those critical to operations 
such as SAP and Dassault-Enovia MatrixOne (Product Life-
cycle Management). The level of service implemented fore-
sees, in the event of a disaster, that systems are rebooted 
within a maximum of 24 hours and without loss of data 
already input to the system. Trial simulation runs are carri-
ed out on a yearly basis in order to verify that the process 
and the system are working correctly. A similar disaster 
recovery plan was formulated for the Pedrignano (Corpo-
rate Headquarters in Parma) site’s access to the network in 
order to guarantee connectivity to Datacenter. Finally, all 
integrated lines of communication have a back-up. 
 In order to maintain a sufficient security level in relation 
to Information Technology at Group level, projects are execu-
ted each year in the field of IT security and third party experts 
perform vulnerability assessments at regular intervals. 
 In the course of the year, a series of projects were 
developed subsequent to the outcome of the assessment 
carried out on the systems’ operating procedures and re-
gulations, focusing on Legislative Decree 231/1001 and IT 
related offences.
 A detailed analysis of the different types of risk: mar-
ket (including foreign exchange, interest rate and price 
risk), credit and liquidity risk is presented in paragraph 7 of 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Significant events after the  
balance sheet date

No significant events took place after 31 December 2011.

Management outlook

The Group performed well in early 2012, both compared to 
budget and actual results for the same period last year.
 The trend in key raw materials prices remained in line 
with budget early in the year, which forecasts continued 
price rises in line with the trend that started in 2011.
 Planned price list increases were implemented in Ja-
nuary across Europe to face expected increases in all key 
raw materials’ prices.

Other significant operating events

The following transactions took place in 2011:
•	 incorporation	of	the	trading	company	Barilla	Singa-

pore Pte Ltd., 100% owned by Barilla G. e R. Fratelli 
Società per Azioni, with a share capital of S$ 200,000;

•	 disposal	of	the	non-operating	companies	Harrys	Rus-
sia (Denmark) A/S and Harrys Management Services, 
both owned by Barilla France S.A.S.

Related party transactions

Transactions with Group companies and related parties 
are not considered uncharacteristic or unusual as they are 
carried out in the normal course of business of the Group 
companies. These transactions take place on an arm’s 
length basis, taking into account market conditions. 
 The nature of the principal transactions with the abo-
ve parties and the detailed information required by IAS 24 
are disclosed in note 8 of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.
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(Euro thousands)

Consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2011

 Assets  Note 31/12/2011 31/12/2010

 Current assets    

 Cash and cash equivalents 6.1 107,163 265,104 

 Trade receivables 6.2 566,257 524,961 

 Tax credits  6.3 92,205 58,772 

 Other receivables due from parent company  6.4 1,456 2,191 

 Other receivables 6.5 69,871 82,377 

 Inventories 6.6 294,576 254,513 

 Derivative financial instruments 6.22 2,749 2,668 

 Assets held for sale 6.7 4,569 7,999 

 Total current assets  1,138,846 1,198,585 

     

 Non-current assets    

 Property, plant and equipment   6.8 1,107,528 1,194,266 

 Goodwill   6.9 508,117 507,866 

 Other intangible assets 6.10 96,588 131,248 

 Trade and other receivables 6.11 7,955 6,561 

 Deferred income tax assets 6.12 71,725 78,539 

 Available-for-sale financial assets  6.13 1,260 1,238 

 Financial receivables 6.14 22,064 20,419 

 Derivative financial instruments 6.22 40,469 1,138 

 Total non-current assets  1,855,706 1,941,275 

 Total assets  2,994,552 3,139,860 

The annual general meeting of shareholders approved the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2011 on 4 May 2012.

Consolidated balance sheet
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(Euro thousands)

 Liabilities  Note 31/12/2011 31/12/2010  

 Current liabilities    

 Trade payables 6.15 815,232 772,435 

 Borrowings 6.16 21,778 74,244 

 Derivative financial instruments 6.22 1,006 164 

 Retirement benefit obligations 6.17 7,728 11,692 

 Current income tax liabilities  6.18 4,796 15,424 

 Other payables 6.19 181,101 213,328 

 Provisions for other liabilities and charges 6.20 46,303 67,483 

 Total current liabilities  1,077,944 1,154,770 

     

 Non-current liabilities    

 Borrowings 6.21 795,555 857,491 

 Derivative financial instruments 6.22 19,572 19,736 

 Retirement benefit obligations 6.17 140,086 144,871 

 Deferred income tax liabilities  6.12 116,466 113,204 

 Other payables 6.23 4,616 5,499 

 Provisions for other liabilities and charges 6.20 31,898 35,136 

 Total non-current liabilities  1,108,193 1,175,937 

     

 Equity 6.24   

 Share capital   131,000 131,000 

 Reserves:    

 Currency translation reserve  18,386 12,220 

 Other reserves  475,831 504,063 

 Profit/(loss) for the year  62,670 20,836 

 Capital and reserves attributable to group equity holders  687,887 668,119 

 Non-controlling interests  107,296 135,070 

 Profit/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interests  13,232 5,964 

 Total non-controlling interests    120,528 141,034 

 Total equity  808,415 809,153 

 Total equity and liabilities   2,994,552 3,139,860 
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(Euro thousands)

Income statement of discontinued operations*

Consolidated income statement

(Euro thousands)

 * Profit for the year from continuing operations in the consolidated income statement does not include the results of businesses disposed of in 2010,  
 which are disclosed separately in the income statement of discontinued operations.

   2011 2010

 Revenue  – 126,139 

 Cost of sales  – (126,585) 

 Recurring operating profit/(loss)  – (446) 

 Finance costs – net  – (49) 

 Income tax expense  – - 

 Profit/(Loss) of discontinued operations  – (495) 

 Gain/(Loss) on disposal net of directly attributable costs  – (21,039) 

 Income tax effect  – - 

 Profit/(Loss) of discontinued operations  – (21,534) 

  Note 2011 2010 

 Revenue 6.25 3,915,938 3,902,933 

 Cost of sales 6.26 (2,303,579) (2,164,157) 

 Gross profit  1,612,359 1,738,776 

 Logistics costs 6.26 (581,369) (595,583) 

 Selling costs 6.26 (155,432) (154,840) 

 Marketing costs 6.26 (336,946) (342,934) 

 Research and development costs 6.26 (29,783) (30,605) 

 General and administrative expenses 6.26 (195,829) (221,535) 

 Other income and (expenses) 6.27 (74,262) (128,357) 

 Goodwill and intangible fixed assets impairment loss 6.9 - 6.26 (23,000) (53,526) 

 Operating profit   215,738 211,396 

 Finance costs   (101,705) (72,924) 

 Finance income   61,541 47,365 

 Finance costs - net 6.28 (40,164) (25,559) 

 Profit before income tax   175,574 185,837 

 Income tax expense 6.29 (99,672) (137,503) 

 Profit for the year from continuing operations  75,902 48,334 

 Profit/(Loss) of discontinued operations  – (21,534) 

 Profit/(Loss) for the year   75,902 26,800 

 Profit/(Loss) attributable to non-controlling interests  13,232 5,964 

 Profit/(Loss) attributable to Group equity holders  62,670 20,836 
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Statement of comprehensive income 

(Euro thousands)

  Note 2011 2010 

 Profit/(Loss) for the year  75,902 26,800 

     

 Actuarial gains/(losses) on future employee benefits 6.17 1,451 (4,924) 

 Cash flow hedge reserve  (4,954) 3,279 

 Currency translation adjustment  7,238 53,876 

 Income tax effect 6.12 1,284 190 

 Total other elements of comprehensive income  5,019 52,421 

     

 Total comprehensive income/(Loss) for the year  80,921 79,221 

 Of which:    

 Income/(Loss) attributable to non-controlling interests  13,888 13,829 

 Income/(Loss) attributable to Group equity holders  67,033 65,392 
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Statement of changes in net equity

31/12/2009 Appropriation 
of profit

for the year

Dividends
and reserve
distribution

Transactions with 
non-controlling

interests, disposals
and other 

movements

31/12/2010Total 
comprehensive 

income for
the year

(Euro thousands)

31/12/2010 31/12/2011Appropriation 
of profit

for the year

Dividends
and reserve
distribution

Total 
comprehensive 

Income for
the Year

(Euro thousands)

 Share capital 131,000 – – – – 131,000 

 Currency translation reserve (33,567) – – – 45,786 12,220 

 IAS 19 (4,828) – – – (4,176) (9,004) 

 Cash flow hedge 8,600 – – (905) 2,788 10,482 

 Deferred taxes (1,009) – – 354 158 (497) 

 Retained earnings 636,921 (87,623) (46,322) 106 – 503,082 

 Profit/(loss) for the year (87,623) 87,623 – – 20,836 20,836 

 Capital and reserves attributable
 to group equity holders 649,494 – (46,322) (445) 65,392 668,119 

 Non-controlling interests 184,802 (13,229) (44,844) 476 7,865 135,070 

 Profit/(loss) attributable to
 non-controlling interests (13,229) 13,229 – – 5,964 5,964 

 Total non-controlling interests 171,573 – (44,844) 476 13,829 141,034 

 Total equity 821,067 – (91,166) 31 79,221 809,153 

 Share capital 131,000 – – –  131,000 

 Currency translation reserve 12,220 – – 6,166  18,386 

 IAS 19 (9,004) – – 1,233  (7,771) 

 Cash flow hedge 10,482 – – (4,212)  6,270 

 Deferred taxes (497) – – 371  (126) 

 Retained earnings 503,082 20,836 (47,265) 804  477,457 

 Profit/(loss) for the year 20,836 (20,836) – 62,670  62,670 

 Capital and reserves attributable
 to group equity holders 668,119 – (47,265) 67,033  687,887 

 Non-controlling  interests 135,070 5,964 (34,394) 656  107,296 

 Profit/(loss) attributable to
 non-controlling interests 5,964 (5,964) – 13,232  13,232 

 Total non-controlling interests 141,034 – (34,394) 13,888  120,528 

  Total equity 809,153 – (81,658) 80,921  808,415 
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Consolidated cash flow statement 

Cash flows generated from discontinued operations

(Euro thousands)

(Euro thousands)

   2011 2010 

 Profit/(loss) before income tax  175,574 164,303 

 Finance costs – net, excluding gains on disposals of equity investments   40,164 20,805 

 Amortization and depreciation   180,649 197,971 

 (Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, intangible and financial assets  3,711 2,283 

 Intangible and tangible fixed assets impairment losses  72,000 120,526 

 Loss on disposal of investments  – 21,534 

 Change in trade receivables/payables  2,227 51,711 

 Change in inventories  (40,063) 5,664 

 Change in provisions (including employee provisions)  (39,996) 270 

 Changes in other assets and liabilities  (24,680) 30,423 

 Income taxes paid  (123,260) (139,616) 

 Foreign exchange gains/(losses) and other minor differences   6,461 22,995 

 Net cash generated from operating activities   (A) 252,787 498,869 

 Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (138,282) (161,272) 

 Purchases of software  (7,773) (7,291) 

 Purchase of  finance lease  – (39,551) 

 Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  12,043 7,409 

 Purchases of other intangible assets  (2,685) (2,242) 

 Proceeds from sale of investments or businesses  – 21,514 

 Proceeds from sale of available for sale financial assets  – 6,957 

 Proceeds from capital grants  1,923 1,490 

 Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities   (B)  (134,774) (172,986) 

 Net change in borrowings   (165,870) (339,553) 

 Dividends paid   (81,658) (106,139) 

 Interest paid  (36,519) (22,128) 

 Net cash (used in) financing activities   (C)   (284,047) (467,820) 

 Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents and bank overdrafts   (A+B+C) (166,034) (141,937) 

 Cash and cash equivalents net of bank overdrafts at beginning of the year   259,465 408,077 

 Cash and cash equivalents net of bank overdrafts at end of the year  93,746 259,465 

 Exchange differences on cash and bank overdrafts  (315) 6,675 

 Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents                      (166,034) (141,937) 

 Bank balances  107,163 265,104 

 Bank overdrafts  (13,417) (5,639) 

 Total cash and cash equivalents net of bank overdrafts   93,746 259,465 

   2011 2010

 Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities  – 10,887 

 Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities  – 21,349 

 Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities  – – 
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Illustrative notes

1. Group structure and business

Barilla Holding Società per Azioni (hereinafter “Barilla Hol-
ding”), a company incorporated in Italy with registered 
offices in Parma (Italy), is the parent company of the Barilla 
Holding Group (hereinafter “the Group”). The Group opera-
tes in the manufacture and sale of pasta, sauces, and bakery 
products, both in Italy and worldwide.
 The entire share capital is owned by the company Gui-
do Maria Barilla e F.lli S.a.p.A. through its subsidiaries CO. FI. 
BA. S.r.l. and Gelp S.p.A.
 A list of the companies included in the scope of consoli-
dation is provided in Appendix 1.

2. Significant events  
after the balance sheet date

No significant events took place after the balance sheet date.

3. Declaration of compliance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
and transition to IFRS 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have 
been prepared in accordance with all of the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the Internatio-
nal Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and endorsed by the 
European Union (EU). IFRS comprise all of the International 
Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Stan-
dards (IAS), and the interpretations issued by the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), pre-
viously named the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC). 
 The Group has consistently applied the accounting poli-
cies in the preparation of the comparative information at 31 
December 2010 and for the current year ended 31 December 
2011. Comparative amounts for 2010 have been reclassified 
where necessary in order to align them and render them 

comparable with the amounts disclosed in the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011.

4. Basis of preparation – Accounting  
and valuation policies

In accordance with Regulation 1606 issued by the Europe-
an Parliament and the European Council in July 2002, the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements (hereinafter “the 
Financial Statements”) have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IAS/IFRS) 
in force at 31 December 2011.
 IFRS have been adopted in Italy and in other countries. 
A significant number of IFRS have recently been published 
or revised for which no established practice relating to their 
interpretation and application exist. Consequently, the Fi-
nancial Statements have been prepared based on the most 
recent information and technical guidance available in re-
spect of IFRS. Any new or revised interpretation of industry 
practice will be reflected in future financial statements in 
accordance with the relevant accounting standards.
 The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 
2011 have been compared with the prior year financial state-
ments (amounts included in brackets in the notes to the finan-
cial statements), and comprise the consolidated balance sheet, 
consolidated income statement, statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity, consolidated cash flow 
statement and the illustrative notes of the consolidated finan-
cial statements. The Group has chosen to present the income 
statement using the classification of expenses by function whi-
le the balance sheet has been prepared with separate disclosure 
of current and non-current assets and liabilities. 
 Cost of sales includes all production costs of goods sold, 
comprising raw materials, components, internal and third 
party direct and indirect production labor costs, industrial 
depreciation and amortization and all other production ex-
penses. 
 The cash flow statement has been presented applying 
the indirect method. 
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Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations 
adopted by the Group from 1 January 2011

On 8 October 2009, the IASB published an amendment to 
IAS 32 – Financial Instruments: Presentation concerning 
the classification of rights issues. This amendment clarifies 
how such rights should be treated if they are denominated 
in a currency other than the functional currency of the is-
suer. The amendment is effective from 1 January 2011. This 
amendment does not apply to the Group.
 On 4 November 2009, the IASB issued a revised version 
of IAS 24 - Related Party Disclosures. The revised version 
of this standard, along with the amendments to IFRS 8 pu-
blished in the European Union’s Official Journal on 20 July 
2010, are applicable from 1 January 2011. Adoption of revi-
sed IAS 24 has no impact on the measurement of individual 
items within the financial statements nor any significant 
effect on the Group’s related party disclosures.
 On 26 November 2009, the IFRIC issued an amendment 
to the interpretation IFRIC 14 – Prepayment of a Minimum 
Funding Requirement, to define the treatment of liabilities 
relating to pension funds when an entity is subject to mi-
nimum funding requirements for defined benefit plans and 
makes an early payment of contributions to cover those 
requirements. As at the present document date, the Europe-
an Union had completed the endorsement process needed 
for its application. The revised version of this interpretation, 
published in the European Union’s Official Journal on 20 July 
2010, applies from 1 January 2011. This interpretation does 
not apply to the Group.
 On the same date, the IFRIC issued the interpretation 
IFRIC 19 – Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 
Instruments, which addresses situations in which a creditor 
agrees to accept equity instruments from a debtor to settle 
its financial liability. The revised version of this interpreta-
tion, published in the European Union’s Official Journal on 
24 July 2010, applies to financial years beginning on or after 
1 July 2010. This interpretation does to the Group.
 On 6 May 2010, the IASB published a series of seven 
Improvements to seven IFRSs, as part of its program of 
annual improvements to its standards; most of the chan-
ges involve clarifications or corrections to existing IFRSs 
or amendments resulting from other changes previously 
made to the IFRSs. These Improvements were published in 
the European Union’s Official Journal on 19 February 2011 
and apply to financial years beginning on or after 1 January 
2011. These Improvements are not considered to have had a 
material impact on the Group’s financial statements.
IFRS 1 - First-time Adoption of International Financial Re-
porting Standards
IFRS 3 - Business Combinations
IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Additional Information
IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 27 - Consolidated and Separate
IAS 34 - Interim Financial Reporting
IFRIC 13 - Customer Loyalty Programs

Recently issued accounting standards, amendments and 
interpretations that are not yet effective and have not 
been early adopted by the Group

On 7 October 2010, the IASB published a number of 
amendments to IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures. 
These amendments will allow users of financial statements 
to improve their understanding of transfer transactions of 
financial assets and the possible effects of any risks that 
may remain with the entity that transferred the assets. The 
amendments also require additional disclosures if a dispro-
portionate amount of transfer transactions are undertaken 
around the end of a reporting period. These amendments 
were published in the European Union’s Official Journal on 
23 November 2011 and apply to financial years beginning 
on or after 1 July 2011.
 On 28 October 2010, the IASB published new require-
ments on accounting for financial liabilities. These require-
ments will be added to IFRS 9 and complete the classification 
and measurement phase of the project to replace IAS 39.
 On 12 November 2009, the IASB issued the first part of 
a new accounting standard IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments, 
which will supersede IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Reco-
gnition and Measurement. This initial document addresses 
the classification of financial instruments and forms part 
of a three-part project, whose second and third parts will 
address the impairment methodology for financial assets 
and the application of hedge accounting respectively. This 
new standard, whose purpose is to simplify and reduce the 
complexity of accounting for financial instruments, classifies 
financial instruments in three categories that the reporting 
entity defines according to its business model, and to the 
contractual characteristics and related cash flows of the in-
struments in question.
 The Group is evaluating the impact of application of 
these new standards on future financial statements.
 The effective application of the above standards, 
amendments and interpretations is not expected to have a 
significant impact.

Finally, the following standards and interpretations 
have also been issued but not yet ratified by the 
European Union
On 20 December 2010, the IASB issued a document entitled 
Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets (Amendments 
to IAS 12). On the same date the IASB published Severe 
Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time 
Adopters (Amendments to IFRS 1) which removes the fi-
xed dates in IFRS 1 to allow first-time adopters to use the 
same simplification rules as those permitted for entities 
that made the transition to IFRS in 2005 and includes an 
exemption from the retrospective application of IFRS on 
first-time adoption for first-time adopters (who up until now 
have been unable to adopt IFRS due to hyperinflation). This 
amendment allows such first-time adopters to use fair value 
as the deemed cost of all their assets and liabilities.
 On 12 May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and 
IFRS 12 and amendments to IAS 27 and IAS 28. On the same 
date, the IASB issued IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement.
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 On 16 June 2011, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 
1 - Presentation of Financial Statements. On the same date, 
the IASB also published a revised version of IAS 19 - Emplo-
yee Benefits. 
 On 16 December 2011, the IASB published Mandatory 
Effective Date and Transition Disclosures (Amendments to 
IFRS 9 and IFRS 7), which defers the mandatory effecti-
ve date of IFRS 9 from 1 January 2013 to 1 January 2015, 
while nonetheless leaving the possibility of earlier appli-
cation unchanged. On the same date, the IASB published 
amendments to IAS 32: Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities. On the same date, the IASB published 
amendments to IFRS 7: Disclosures - Offsetting Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities.
 As at the present document date, the European Union 
had not yet completed the endorsement process
needed for those documents to apply.
 The Group is evaluating the impact of applying these 
new standards at future financial statements.
 The effective application of the above standards, 
amendments and interpretations is not expected to have a 
significant impact.

Accounting and valuation policies

Basis of preparation
The Financial Statements are presented in Euro and all 
amounts are stated in thousands of Euro (unless otherwise 
stated). The Financial Statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention, as modified for impairment 
losses where applicable, with the exception of financial 
instruments measured at fair value. Uniform accounting po-
licies are adopted by all Group companies. The purchase or 
sale of financial assets are recognized or derecognized using 
settlement date accounting.

Estimates and assumptions
Preparation of the Financial Statements requires manage-
ment to use estimates based on subjective assumptions 
derived from historical experience that is considered reaso-
nable and realistic in relation to the specific circumstances.
  These estimates affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities, revenues and costs and the disclosures rela-
ting to contingent assets and liabilities at the balance sheet 
date.
 Estimates and assumptions principally relate to evalua-
tion of the recoverable amount of intangible assets, defini-
tion of the useful lives of property, plant and equipment, the 
recoverability of trade and other receivables and the reco-
gnition and measurement of provisions. 
 Estimates and assumptions are based on the best 
knowledge available at the date of preparation of the finan-
cial statements.

Critical accounting policies
A summary of the accounting policies that require mana-
gement to exercise more critical judgment in forming esti-
mates, and for which a change in the underlying conditions 

of the assumptions used, could have a significant impact on 
the Financial Statements, is set out below:

a. Goodwill
The value of goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual 
basis in order to identify any potential impairment losses 
(impairment test). This assessment requires goodwill to be 
allocated to cash generating units (CGU) and determination 
of the recoverable amount, representing the higher of fair 
value and value in use.
 Where the recoverable amount of the cash generating 
units is lower than the carrying amount, comprising alloca-
ted goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized. Allocation of 
goodwill to the CGU’s and determination of their value in 
use requires estimates to be made that are based on subjec-
tive assumptions and factors that may change over time 
with potentially significant effects on the valuations carried 
out by management.

b. Depreciation
The cost of property, plant and equipment is depreciated 
systematically over the estimated useful lives of the related 
assets. The useful life of Group assets is determined by ma-
nagement at the acquisition date; this is based on historical 
experience for similar assets, market conditions and infor-
mation regarding future events that could affect the useful 
life, for example changes in technology. As a result, the 
effective economic life of an asset may differ from the esti-
mated useful life. The Group reviews changes in technology 
and business factors on a regular basis in order to update 
the useful lives. This update may result in a change in the 
depreciation period and an adjustment to the depreciation 
charge for future periods.

c. Impairment of fixed assets
The carrying amount of fixed assets is tested for impairment 
to identify any impairment losses, when there is any indi-
cation that the carrying value cannot be recovered through 
future use or sale. 
 The identification of any such impairment indicators re-
quires management to carry out subjective valuations based 
on both internally and externally available information, and 
subjective assumptions based on historical experience.  
 Moreover, where there is an indication of a potential 
impairment, this should be determined applying suitable 
valuation techniques. The proper identification of impair-
ment indicators and the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amounts depend on subjective assumptions and 
factors which may vary over time, affecting the valuations 
and estimates made by management.

d. Deferred income tax
Accounting for deferred income tax assets is based on ex-
pectations relating to the generation of future taxable inco-
me, and the evaluation of technical and institutional factors 
relating to the fiscal regime to which the taxes relate (for 
example: time limits for the recovery of tax losses). 
 The estimate of future taxable income for the purpose 
of recording deferred tax assets depends on factors and as-
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sumptions that may vary over time and could have a signifi-
cant impact on the valuation of deferred tax assets. 

e. Provisions
Provisions are made to cover the potential liability relating 
to legal and tax risks. The measurement of the provisions 
recognized in the Financial Statements in relation to these 
risks represents management’s best estimate at the ba-
lance sheet date. This estimate requires assumptions to be 
made that depend on factors that may change over time, 
and could therefore have a significant effect on the current 
estimates made by management in the preparation of the 
financial statements.

f. Determination of the fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments is based on market 
quotations or, where unavailable, applying suitable valuation 
techniques that use updated financial variables used by mar-
ket investors and, where possible, taking into account the pri-
ces of recent transactions on similar financial instruments. 

Principles of consolidation

The Financial Statements comprise the financial state-
ments of the parent company Barilla Holding, and the 
subsidiaries in which Barilla Holding holds, either directly 
or indirectly, a controlling interest. In addition to subsidia-
ries, the scope of consolidation also includes associates 
and joint ventures.
 Subsidiaries represent those companies over which 
Barilla Holding exercises control as it has the power, either 
directly or indirectly, to govern the entity’s financial and 
operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
Generally, subsidiaries are those companies in which Barilla 
Holding owns more than 50% of the voting rights. The fi-
nancial statements of the subsidiaries are consolidated on a 
line-by-line basis from the date on which the parent gains 
effective control up to the date on which control ceases. The 
impact of all transactions between the subsidiaries and the 
Group are eliminated. The reporting date of all Group com-
panies is 31 December.
 Investments in joint ventures are consolidated applying 
the proportional method of consolidation. The effect of 
intra-group transactions is eliminated to the extent to which 
they did not occur with third parties.

Foreign currency transactions
All transactions are measured using the currency of the prima-
ry economic environment in which each Group company ope-
rates (the functional currency). Transactions denominated in 
currencies different from the functional currency of the Group 
companies are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at 
the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities are 
translated using year-end exchange rates and exchange diffe-
rences are recognized in the income statement. Non-moneta-
ry assets and liabilities, which are measured at historical cost 
and denominated in foreign currency, are converted at the 
exchange rate prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 

Translation of financial statements denominated  
in foreign currencies
The financial statements of subsidiaries denominated in 
non-Euro functional currencies, are translated as follows:
•		 assets	and	liabilities	are	translated	at	the	year-end	

rate;
•		 revenue	and	expenses	are	translated	at	average	ex-

change rates for the period;
•		 all	resulting	translation	differences	are	reported	as	a	

separate component of total equity.
On disposal of those entities that gave rise to exchange 
differences, the cumulative amount of exchange differences 
deferred in a separate component of equity are recognized 
to the income statement.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are valued at cost, 
net of amortization and impairment losses, while those with 
an indefinite useful life are reviewed annually for impai-
rment. Cost does not include capitalized borrowing costs. 
Amortization commences from when the asset is available 
for use.

Goodwill
The positive difference between the purchase price and the 
Group’s share of the fair value of assets, liabilities and con-
tingent liabilities acquired as part of a business combination, 
is recorded as goodwill and is classified as an intangible as-
set with an indefinite useful life. 
 Goodwill is not amortized but is subjected to an annual 
impairment test. For the purpose of this assessment, good-
will is allocated to groups of cash generating units (“CGU”) 
that generally represent an operating segment (Business 
Unit). Goodwill impairment losses may not be reversed.

Trademarks and licenses 
Trademarks and licenses are valued at cost less amortiza-
tion and impairment losses. Trademarks are amortized over 
their useful life while licenses are amortized over the lesser 
between the contract period and their useful life.

Software
The cost of software licenses, including other incremental 
costs, is capitalized and recorded in the Financial Statements 
net of amortization and impairment losses.

Research and development costs
The research costs relating to new products and/or proces-
ses are expensed when incurred. Given the nature of the 
Group’s business, no development costs, qualify for capitali-
zation, are incurred.
 The useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:

Trademarks 5 to 20 years

Software 3 to 5 years
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at acquisition or 
production cost, including directly attributable expenses, 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, with the exception of land, which is not depreciated 
but valued at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Cost 
does not include borrowing costs.
 Depreciation is recorded from the month in which the 
asset is available for use, or that it is able to provide econo-
mic benefits.
 Depreciation is calculated systematically on a monthly 
basis applying rates that allocate the depreciable amount of 
the asset over its useful life or, where the asset is disposed 
of, up until the last month of use.
 The useful lives are as follows:

Category Useful life

Buildings 33 years

Plant and machinery

- generic 13 years

- specific 10 – 20 years

- highly technological 5 – 8 years

Industrial and commercial equipment:

- furniture and fittings 8 years

- electronic machinery 3.5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Other equipment 2.5 years

Government grants relating to property, plant and equip-
ment are recorded as a reduction in the value of the related 
asset and are recognized as income over the depreciation 
period.
 Leasehold improvements are classified in property, 
plant and equipment in line with the nature of the cost in-
curred. The depreciation period is the lower of the residual 
useful life of the asset and the residual period of the lease 
contract.
 Spare parts that are significant in value are capitalized 
and depreciated over the useful life of the asset to which 
they relate; the cost of other spare parts is expensed in the 
income statement as incurred.

Leasing

Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance lea-
ses, whereby all of the risks and rewards relating to the as-
sets are transferred to the Group, are recognized at current 
value or, where lower, the current value of the minimum 
payment lease obligations, including any amounts to be paid 
on redemption. The corresponding liability due to the lessor 
is classified in financial payables. The assets are depreciated 
applying the rates presented above in respect of “Property, 
plant and equipment”, except where the lease term is lower 
than the estimated useful life, and it is not reasonably cer-
tain that ownership of the leased asset will be transferred on 
maturity of the contract; in this case the depreciation period 
corresponds to the lease term. 

Lease contracts in which the lessor substantially maintains 
the risks and rewards arising from ownership of the assets are 
classified as operating leases. The costs incurred in respect of 
operating leases are charged to the income statement on a 
systematic basis over the term of the lease contract.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets

In the presence of specific indicators that an asset may be 
impaired, an impairment test should be carried out on pro-
perty, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
 The impairment test consists in the measurement of 
the recoverable value of the assets and comparison with the 
related carrying amount.
 If the recoverable amount of an asset is lower than its 
carrying amount, the latter should be reduced to the reco-
verable amount. This reduction represents an impairment 
loss and should be recognized as an expense in the income 
statement. With regard to assets that are not amortized, 
property, plant and equipment that are no longer used and 
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment not yet 
available for use, the impairment test is carried out on an 
annual basis, irrespective of whether specific indicators exist.
 During the year, the Group assesses whether there 
is any indication that property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets with a finite useful life may be impaired. 
For this purpose both internal and external sources of 
information are taken into consideration. With regard to 
internal sources, the following indicators are considered: 
obsolescence or physical deterioration of the asset, signi-
ficant adverse changes in the extent to which an asset is 
used and deterioration in the expected level of the asset’s 
performance. With regard to external sources these in-
clude: performance of the market price of the asset, signi-
ficant adverse changes in the technological, market, and 
legal environments, the trend in market rates of return 
and the discount rate used in valuing investments.
 The recoverable value of an asset is defined as the 
higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
The value in use is determined as the current value of 
expected future cash flows calculated applying a discount 
rate that reflects the current market valuation of the time 
value of money and the risks inherent in the asset. Where 
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable value of a 
single asset, the Group estimates the recoverable value of 
the cash generating unit or group of cash generating units 
to which it belongs. Where the conditions that led to the 
reduction in value no longer exist, the carrying value of 
the asset or the cash generating unit is restated to the 
new estimated recoverable value, which may not exceed 
the carrying value that would have been recognized had 
the original impairment not incurred. This restatement is 
recorded in the income statement.
 Purchased goodwill that is allocated to units or groups 
of cash generating units during the year is subjected to an 
impairment test prior to the end of the financial period in 
which the purchase and allocation took place.
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 In order to assess its recoverability, the goodwill is 
allocated from the purchase date to each of the CGU’s or 
groups of CGU’s that are expected to benefit from the ac-
quisition.
 Where the carrying value of the CGU (or groups of 
CGU’s) is higher than the respective recoverable amount, an 
impairment loss is recognized as an expense in the income 
statement.
 The impairment loss is initially recorded as a reduc-
tion in the carrying amount of the goodwill allocated 
to the CGU (or group of CGU’s) and secondly to other 
assets in the CGU on a pro-rata basis considering the 
relative carrying amount of each asset in the CGU up to 
the recoverable amount of individual assets with a finite 
useful life. 
 The future cash flows derive from business plans ap-
proved by the board of directors (or a similar body), which 
normally cover a period not exceeding five years. The 
long-term growth rate used for the purpose of estimating 
the terminal value of the CGU (or group of CGU’s) does 
not generally exceed the average long-term growth rate 
for the industry, the country or the market in which the 
CGU (or group of CGU’s) operates.
 The future cash flows are estimated with reference 
to current conditions of the CGU’s and do not consi-
der benefits that may arise from future restructuring 
to which the company is not yet committed, or future 
investments intended to improve or enhance the perfor-
mance of the CGU.
 The Group has identified the cash generating units at 
production line and store level.
 For the purpose of the impairment test, goodwill is 
allocated to groups of CGU’s, which generally represent 
the operating segments. The Group operating segments 
correspond to the following Business Units: Meal Solu-
tions Business Unit, Bakery Business Unit, North America 
Business Unit and Number 1 Business Unit.

Amortized cost method of measuring  
financial assets and liabilities

The amortized cost method requires calculation of the ef-
fective interest rate at the time the transaction is entered 
into. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly di-
scounts the future cash flows to the net carrying amount at 
initial recognition.
 Any changes in future cash flows, if not attributable to 
changes in market conditions, result in the restatement of 
the carrying value of financial assets and liabilities with a 
corresponding entry to the income statement.

Financial assets

On initial recognition, financial assets are measured at fair 
value and designated in one of the following categories 
depending on their nature and the purpose for which they 
were acquired:

(a) Financial assets “at fair value through profit or loss”;
(b) Loans and receivables;
(c) Available-for-sale financial assets.
The purchase and sale of financial assets are recognized 
when the entity becomes party to the contractual provi-
sions of the instrument. They are derecognized when the 
contractual rights to the financial asset have expired or the 
Group has substantially transferred all of the risks and re-
wards relating to the asset.
 Following initial recognition in the Financial Statements, 
financial assets are measured as follows:

(a) At fair value through profit or loss
This includes financial assets, represented by equity secu-
rities, acquired principally with the intention of short-term 
profit making. These securities are classified as current as-
sets.
 The financial assets in this category are initially me-
asured at fair value and the directly attributable costs are 
expensed in the income statement; all of the financial assets 
that are not included in this category are initially measured 
at fair value including costs directly attributable to acquisi-
tion. 
 Gains or losses relating to changes in the fair value of 
the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
included in the income statement within finance income/
costs, in the period in which they are incurred. 

(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payment terms, principally trade 
receivables which are not quoted in an active market. Trade 
receivables and loans are included in current assets, with the 
exception of those that mature over twelve months after 
the balance sheet date, which are classified as non-current 
assets. 
 These assets are initially measured at fair value and 
are subsequently measured at amortized cost based on the 
effective interest rate, net of any impairment losses. Impair-
ment losses on financial assets are recognized in the finan-
cial statements where there is objective evidence that the 
Group will not be able to recover the amount due from the 
counterparty based on contractual conditions.
 The objective evidence that a financial asset or group 
of financial assets has incurred an impairment loss includes 
observable data that comes to the attention of the Group 
regarding the following loss events:
(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
(b) the disappearance of an active market for the asset be-

cause of financial difficulties;
(c) it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bank-

ruptcy or other financial reorganization.        
Trade receivables due in less than one year, are measured 
at fair value, which generally approximates the face value. 
Securitized or factored receivables, either with or without 
recourse, which do not meet all of the conditions that per-
mit derecognition, are maintained in the balance sheet; a 
corresponding financial liability is recognized as “Payables 
for advances on the sale of receivables”.



39

Receivables that are sold and meet all of the derecognition 
criteria for financial assets, are removed from the balance 
sheet at the time of sale. Gains or losses arising from the 
sale of these assets are recognized when the assets are de-
recognized from the balance sheet. 

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets 
This heading includes equity securities and other debt 
securities not held-for-trading. These are classified as non-
current assets where management does not intend to sell 
the assets within 12 months of the balance sheet date. The-
se are measured at fair value and any change in fair value is 
recorded in a separate heading in equity. The recognition of 
“gains or losses relating to changes in the fair value of finan-
cial assets” only occurs when the financial asset is sold or 
otherwise disposed of. 
 The fair value of quoted financial instruments is based 
on the current offer price. Where there is no active mar-
ket for a financial asset (or the security is not quoted), the 
Group determines the fair value using valuation techniques 
used for similar instruments, analyzed based on cash flows 
or pricing models using market indicators. In determining 
the valuation, the Group favors the use of market informa-
tion over internal information that is specific to the Group’s 
business.
 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whe-
ther objective evidence exists that the financial assets 
have incurred an impairment loss. With regard to equity 
investments classified as available-for-sale financial as-
sets, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of 
an investment below its cost is considered an impairment 
indicator. Where this evidence exists for available-for-sale 
financial assets, the cumulative loss – determined as the 
difference between the acquisition cost and the fair value 
at the balance sheet date less any impairment loss on that 
financial asset previously recognized in profit or loss – is re-
cycled from equity and recognized in the income statement.
 The restatement of the value of financial assets repre-
sented by capital instruments, for which an impairment loss 
was recognized in the income statement, is recorded directly 
in equity.
 Any dividends relating to equity investments included 
in available-for-sale financial assets, are included as dividend 
income in the income statement under the heading “Divi-
dends” only when the Group has acquired the right to recei-
ve this payment. 

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value adju-
sted for transaction costs, and subsequently are measured 
at amortized cost applying the effective interest rate. The 
difference between amortized cost and the amount to be 
repaid is recognized in the income statement over the term 
of the liability. 
 Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities 
except where the Group, at the balance sheet date, has an 
unconditional right to extend the maturity of the loan to at 

least more than twelve months after the balance sheet date. 
Trade and other payables with normal trading terms, ge-
nerally less than one year, are recorded at fair value, which 
normally approximates the nominal value. 

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost, measured ap-
plying the FIFO (first in – first out) method, and net realiza-
ble value. 

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank 
and post office deposits and short-term highly liquid in-
vestments that are readily convertible to cash (three months 
or less from the date of acquisition), which are measured at 
nominal value as they are not subject to significant fluctua-
tions in value.

Employee benefits

(a) Pension funds
Group companies operate both defined contribution and 
defined benefit plans. 
 A defined contribution plan is a plan where the Group 
pays fixed contributions to a separate entity (a fund) and 
will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to 
pay all employee benefits relating to employee services in 
the current and prior periods. With regard to defined contri-
bution plans, the Group pays contributions, either voluntary 
or specified in the plan rules, to public and private insurance 
pension funds. Contributions are recognized as payroll costs 
applying the accrual basis. 
 The defined benefit obligation recorded in the Financial 
Statements corresponds to the present value of the obliga-
tion at the balance sheet date, less, where applicable, the 
fair value of any plan assets. The defined benefit obligations 
are determined on an annual basis by an independent ac-
tuary using the projected unit credit method. The present 
value of the defined benefit plan is determined discounting 
future cash flows by a rate equal to that of high-quality cor-
porate bonds of equivalent currency and term to the benefit 
obligations. Actuarial gains and losses arising on the above 
adjustments and changes in the actuarial assumptions are 
reflected in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 (b) Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are those payable on termination of 
an employment before the normal retirement date, or when 
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy. The Group 
recognizes termination benefits when a demonstrable com-
mitment exists that is governed by a detailed formal plan 
specifying details of the employment termination, or when 
payment of the benefit is the result of an offer made to 
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encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits are 
discounted when the effect of the time value of money is 
material.

Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Provisions are recorded to cover the Group’s legal, con-
tractual or constructive obligations that derive from a past 
event. A provision is recognized where it is probable that an 
outflow of resources will be required and a reliable estimate 
of the amount may be made. Where it is estimated that 
these obligations will arise more than twelve months after 
the balance sheet date and that they will have a material 
impact on the financial statements, they are recorded at 
present value applying a discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the liability. Any adjustment to the estima-
ted provision is recognized in the income statement in the 
period in which the adjustment occurred. Where discounting 
is used, any increase in the provision to reflect the passage 
of time and the impact of changes in the discount rate are 
recognized as borrowing costs. 
 Restructuring provisions are recognized when there is a 
constructive obligation, which takes place when the Group 
has a detailed formal plan and has informed those affected 
by the plan, or when the Group has announced the plan in 
sufficient details to raise valid expectation in those affected 
by the plan that the restructuring will be carried out.
 Provisions for tax risks are recognized following asses-
sments notified to the Group but not yet settled at the ba-
lance sheet date.

Derivative financial instruments

Accounting for derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value, 
with any difference charged to profit or loss, with the excep-
tion of cash flow hedges, where gains or losses are recogni-
zed in the statement of comprehensive income.

Derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting
In all cases where derivatives are designated as hedging in-
struments, the Group formally documents, from inception 
of the hedge, the relationship between the hedging instru-
ment and the related hedged item or transaction, the risk 
management objective and the hedging strategy adopted.
 The Group also documents the hedging instrument’s 
effectiveness to compensate changes attributable to the 
hedged risk based on changes in the fair value of the hed-
ging instruments compared to changes in the fair value of 
the hedged item. This assessment is carried out at inception 
and on a continuous basis throughout the life of the hedge.

Categories of hedges
Hedging instruments are categorized as follows:
 (i) Cash flow hedge: if the hedge is designated to cover 
the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to 

a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability 
or a highly probable forecast transaction, the gains or losses 
on the effective portion of the hedging instrument are reco-
gnized in the statement of comprehensive income; the inef-
fective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument 
is recognized in the income statement. Depending on the 
nature of the hedge, financial or commodity related, the inef-
fective portion is classified in either finance income/costs on 
financial transactions or operating costs/income, respectively.
 The amounts recognized directly in the statement of 
comprehensive income are recognized to the income state-
ment in the period in which the hedged item affects profit 
or loss.
 When a hedging instrument reaches maturity or is sold, 
or no longer meets the conditions required to be classified 
as a hedge, the related fair value adjustments accumula-
ted to date will be retained until the hedged item affects 
profit or loss, and only at that time will it be recognized in 
the income statement applying the accounting treatment 
relevant to the hedged item. If the forecast transaction that 
was subject to the hedge is no longer expected to affect the 
income statement, the accumulated fair value adjustments 
are immediately recognized in the income statement. 
 (ii) Derivative financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss that are not designated as hedges are classified 
as current or non-current assets or liabilities based on their 
contractual maturity.
 The gain or loss arising on changes in the fair value of 
these instruments is recognized in the income statement. 
Depending on the nature of the hedge, financial or com-
modity related, the ineffective portion is classified in either 
finance income/costs on financial transactions or operating 
costs/income, respectively.

Determination of the fair value of a hedging instrument 
The fair value of an interest rate swap is determined based 
on the present value of the expected future cash flows. The 
fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determi-
ned using the forward rate at the balance sheet date. 
 The fair value of other hedging instruments quoted on 
an active market is based on the market prices prevailing at 
the balance sheet date. The fair value of instruments that are 
not quoted on an active market is determined using valuation 
techniques, based on a series of methods and assumptions, 
and market information at the balance sheet date.

Non-current assets and liabilities  
held for sale and discontinued operations 

A non-current asset, or group of non-current assets and liabi-
lities, is classified as held for sale when the carrying amount 
is to be recovered primarily from a sale transaction rather 
than through continuing use. The assets (or groups of assets) 
held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying 
amount and their fair value, less estimated costs to sell. 
 The results and the carrying amount of a component of 
an entity that represents a separate major line of business or 
geographical area of operations are classified separately in 
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the income statement and in the balance sheet at the time 
of the sale or when they meet the conditions to be classified 
as held for sale or discontinued.

Total equity 

Costs directly attributable to share capital increases are re-
corded as a deduction from total equity. 

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized at the fair value of the amount re-
ceived for the sale of products or services, net of returns or 
discounts. 

Sale of products
Revenue from product sales is recognized when all of the 
following conditions are met, which normally takes place on 
delivery to the customer:
•	 the	significant	risks	and	rewards	arising	from	owner-

ship of the goods are transferred to the buyer; 
•	 effective	control	over	the	goods	ceases;
•	 the	amount	of	revenue	can	be	reliably	measured;
•	 it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	associated	

with the transaction will flow to the entity;
•	 the	costs	incurred	or	to	be	incurred	in	respect	of	the	

transaction can be reliably measured.

Finance income
Interest is recorded on an accruals basis and is calculated 
applying the effective interest rate.

Dividends
Dividends are recognized on an accruals basis.

Government grants

Revenue based government grants is recognized in the in-
come statement when the right to receive the payment is 
established.

Finance income and costs

Finance income and costs comprise of: interest payable ma-
tured on all borrowings, interest income on cash and cash 
equivalents and similar securities, dividends, foreign exchan-
ge gains and losses and the financial impact arising from 
hedging the exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange 
risk, which are taken to the income statement.

Taxation 

Taxation includes both current and deferred income taxes. 
Current income taxes are based on the estimate which the 

Group expects to pay calculated by applying to taxable in-
come the enacted tax rates, or those substantively enacted, 
at the balance sheet date in each of the relevant tax juri-
sdictions.
 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determi-
ned applying the liability method, whereby all of the tem-
porary differences between the tax bases of assets and lia-
bilities and the carrying amounts at the balance sheet date, 
except for goodwill, are calculated. Deferred income tax as-
sets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates that are 
expected to apply to the period when the asset is expected 
to be realized or the liability is expected to be settled, based 
on tax rates that have been enacted by the balance sheet 
date. Income taxes arising on the distribution of dividends 
are recognized on distribution. 
 For the purpose of recognizing deferred tax assets, the 
Group assesses the likelihood that sufficient future taxable 
income will be available to recover these assets. Tax assets 
and liabilities, both current and deferred, may only be off-
set where the amounts relate to the same tax jurisdiction, 
where the reversal period is the same and there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts.

Distribution of dividends

Dividends payable to shareholders are recognized on an ac-
cruals basis.

Transactions with non-controlling interests

The acquisition and disposal of non-controlling interests 
in companies in which control already exists are classified 
as transactions with group shareholders. Any differences 
between the carrying value and the purchase price paid or 
received are recorded in equity. 

5. Change in the scope of consolidation

The scope of consolidation changed during the year as a re-
sult of following operations:
•	 Disposal of Harrys Russia (Denmark) and Harrys Mana-

gement Services.
•	 Incorporation of a new trading company Singapore, Ba-

rilla Singapore Pte Ltd.

6. Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements

Consolidated balance sheet

6.1 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, which amounted to Euro 107,163 
(Euro 265,104), comprise bank and post office deposit ac-
counts, cheques and other cash on hand.
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cipally relate to income tax installments and VAT recovera-
ble. These credits may be analyzed as follows:

  31/12/2011 31/12/2010

 Income tax  22,817 6,868 

 VAT 69,388 51,904 

 Total 92,205 58,772 

During the year VAT receivables of Euro 27,093 were settled.
 The fair value of tax credits substantially approximates 
the carrying value.

6.4 Other receivables due from parent company
The balance of Euro 1,456 (Euro 2,191 ) relates to the amount 
due from the parent company CO. FI. BA. S.r.l. resulting from 
the Group’s participation in the group consolidated tax regime 
where CO. FI. BA S.r.l. is the consolidating company. 

6.5 Other receivables 
Other receivables comprised:

  31/12/2011 31/12/2010

 Amounts due from factoring entities 16,907 41,996 

 Supplier advances 12,606 11,656 

 Amounts due from employees 3,301 2,974 

 Amounts due from 
 social security authorities 2,255 2,545 

 Guarantee deposits 708 866 

 Other receivables 13,971 6,310 

 Accrued income and prepayments 20,123 16,030 

 Total 69,871 82,377 

The amounts due to factoring entities comprise receivables 
due from factoring companies in respect of trade 
receivables, sold but not yet paid. The change compared to 
the previous year is due to the fact that no advances were 
requested on trade receivables sold to factoring companies.
 The change in Other Receivables is mainly due to the 
current portion of the receivables of the Lieken group arising 
on disposal of production sites in Germany.
 Accrued income and prepayments comprise prepaid 
rent and insurance premiums, accrued interest income as 
well as costs incurred in the year to secure the new commit-
ted Revolving Credit Facility. 
 Other receivables are disclosed net of the allowance for 
doubtful accounts, which amounted to Euro 28 (Euro 227).

Movements in the allowance for doubtful accounts may be 
analyzed as follows:

  2011 2010 

 Opening balance 227 356  

 Charges – (3)  

 Utilization  (199) (126)  

 Closing balance 28 227  

 The change in cash and cash equivalents recorded 
during the year is reported in the consolidated cash flow 
statement. 

6.2 Trade receivables

  31/12/2011 31/12/2010

 Trade receivables  617,187 573,780 

 Allowance for doubtful accounts (50,930) (48,819) 

 Total 566,257 524,961 

Trade receivables consist of amounts due from customers in 
relation to the sale of goods and provision of services, net of 
allowances for doubtful accounts.
 The charges to and utilization of the allowance for 
doubtful accounts are included in other income and ex-
penses in the income statement under the sub-headings, 
Impairment and losses on receivables and Utilization of 
risk provisions, respectively. 
 The fair value of trade receivables approximates their 
carrying value at the balance sheet date. This also repre-
sents the maximum exposure to credit risk.

Receivables for which allowances have been recorded may 
be analyzed as follows:

  2011        2010 

 Not yet overdue 240,442 226,795 

 Less than 3 months 134,837 134,103 

 Between 3 and 6 months 4,922 2,609 

 Between 6 and 12 months 10,006 2,196 

 More than 12 months 12,046 11,432 

 Total 402,253 377,135 

Trade receivables that were not yet overdue and not impai-
red at 31 December 2011 amounted to Euro 214,934 (Euro 
196,645). 

Movements in the allowance for doubtful accounts were as 
follows:

  2011 2010

 Opening balance 48,819 27,387 

 Charges 5,963 27,691 

 Utilization  (3,148) (6,012) 

 Released  (671) (153) 

 Change in scope of consolidation  – (214) 

 Exchange difference (33) 120 

 Closing balance 50,930 48,819 

The change in scope of consolidation in 2010 was related to the 
balances of Kamps GmbH, which was sold in August 2010.

6.3 Tax credits
Tax credits represent amounts due from tax authorities in 
the various countries in which the Group operates and prin-
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6.6 Inventories
Inventories may be analyzed as follows:

  31/12/2011 31/12/2010

 Raw materials
 and semi-finished goods   161,345  142,882 

 Finished goods    132,416  111,243 

 Advances  815  388 

 Total  294,576  254,513 

Movements in the inventory obsolescence provision may be 
detailed as follows:

  2011 2010

 Opening balance  11,226  13,690  

 Charges  1,010  1,553  

 Utilization (5,689)  (4,465)  

 Exchange differences (6)  178  

 Closing balance  6,541  11,226  

6.7 Assets held for sale
The total principally relates to property, plant and equip-
ment of the Lieken group that are to be disposed of as part 
of the restructuring plan that is already underway. The de-
crease compared to last year is mainly due to the disposals 
that took place in 2011.

The total may be analyzed as follows:

  31/12/2011 31/12/2010

 Property, plant and equipment 4,569 7,999  

 Total 4,569 7,999         

6.8 Property, plant and equipment
The net movement of Euro 86,738 in the net book value of 
property, plant and equipment compared to 31 December 
2010, is principally due to additions totaling Euro 138,282, 
the positive effect of retranslating amounts denominated 
in foreign currency for Euro 309, net disposals of Euro 9,191 
and the depreciation and impairment losses for the year 
that amounted to Euro 207,628.

Movements in property, plant and equipment were as follows:

Land Buildings Plant and 
machinery

Industrial and 
retail equipment

Other 
assets

Assets under 
construction

Total

 Movements during 2010        

 Net book amounts at 01/01/2010 69,487 451,295 640,871 42,345 19,076 54,158 1,277,232 

 Capital expenditure  –   –   –   –   –   161,272  161,272  

 Financial lease – – – – – 39,551 39,551 

 Capitalizations  137   20,598   125,577   8,182   10,690   (165,184)  – 

 Grants received  –   (271)  (1,203)  (7)  (9) –  (1,490) 

 Disposals (1,962) (20,072) (74,878) (9,612) (7,199) (16,071) (129,795) 

 Utilization of accumulated depreciation  –  7,810 96,388 9,580 6,383  – 120,162 

 Depreciation and impairment losses – (57,960) (155,949) (13,107) (9,615) – (236,631) 

 Change in scope of consolidation  (5,184) (15,500) (11,224) (18,944) (1,113)  –  (51,965) 

 Foreign exchange differences 557 5,256 8,906 220 81 910 15,930 

 Net book amounts at 31/12/2010 63,035 391,156 628,488 18,657 18,294 74,636 1,194,266 

 Historical cost 64,181 791,032 2,384,536 117,884 141,484 74,636 3,573,752 

 Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (1,146) (399,876) (1,756,048) (99,227) (123,189) – (2,379,486) 

 Movements during 2011        

 Capital expenditure  –   –   –   –   –   138,282  138,282 

 Capitalizations 86 17,234 93,551 19,580 11,084 (141,535) – 

 Grants received – (65) (1,858) – – – (1,923) 

 Disposals – (2,335) (52,019) (13,757) (5,211) (8,144) (81,466) 

 Utilization of accumulated depreciation – 3,453 53,355 10,155 5,312 – 72,275 

 Depreciation and impairment losses – (23,729) (165,104) (10,047) (8,748) – (207,628) 

 Reclassified to assets held for sale (3,319) (3,268) – – – – (6,587) 

 Foreign exchange differences 139 (169) 235 (50) (155) 309 309 

 Net book amounts at 31/12/2011 59,941 382,277 556,648 24,538 20,576 63,548 1,107,528 

 Historical cost 61,087 781,806 2,422,572 123,688 146,626 63,548 3,599,327 

 Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (1,146) (399,529) (1,865,924) (99,150) (126,050) – (2,491,799) 
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Finance leases
The net book amounts of assets held under finance leases 
amounted to Euro 39,866 (Euro 47,379) and comprised:

Details of the principal lease contracts outstanding at 31 
December 2011 are provided below:
•	 Barilla	G.	e	R.	Fratelli	has	two	finance	lease	contracts	re-

lating to the cogeneration plants in Italy, which will expire 
in 2020 and 2022, for which have purchase options at the 
end of the lease term for a total amount of Euro 34,297. 

•	 Barilla	France	has	entered	into	a	number	of	finance	lea-
se contracts with a maximum expiry date of November 
2015, which have purchase option at the end of the 
lease term. The main contracts relate to property lea-
ses, which expire in January and November 2015. The 
assets net book value amounted to Euro 1,545.

•	 Barilla	Deutschland	has	entered	into	a	finance	lease	con-
tract for a mill that matures in August 2028. The net book 
value at 31 December 2011 amounted to Euro 2,921. 

The present value of future lease payments and the related 
payment period are as follows:

 
  31/12/2011 31/12/2010

 Not later than 1 year  5,608 5,990 

 Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years 5,555 5,570 

 Later than 2 years and not later than 3 years  5,558 5,555 

 Later than 3 years and not later than 4 years 5,215 5,558 

 Later than 4 years and not later than 5 years  5,052 5,214 

 Later than 5 years  22,720 27,772 

 Total present value
 of future lease payments  49,708 55,659 

The reconciliation between the minimum future lease 
payments and the present value of the lease payments is as 
follows:

Operating leases 
The minimum future lease payments under operating leases 
and the related repayment period are as follows: 

  2011 2010

 Not later than one year  45,555 45,630 

 Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  80,535 89,924 

 Later than 5 years  16,990 27,267 

 Total minimum future lease payments  143,080 162,822 

  31/12/2011 31/12/2010

 Total minimum future lease payments 49,708 55,569  

 Interest  (10,895) (13,98)  

 Present value of lease payments 38,813 42,471 

Land Buildings Plant and 
machinery

Industrial and 
commercial equipment

Other 
assets

 At 31/12/2011  191 4,306 35,223 146 39,866 

 At 31/12/2010  191 7,594 39,322 272 47,379 
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The main assets held under operating leases are:
•		 Land	and	buildings	in	Germany	relating	to	the	Group	

company Lieken Zimmermann GmbH, in respect of 
which total minimum future lease payments were Euro 
15,816, with Euro 1,977 due not later than 1 year, Euro 
7,908 due later than one year but not later than five 
years and the remainder of Euro 5,931 due later than 
five years.

•		 Properties	in	Italy	used	as	warehouses	and	depots	for	
the Barilla G. e R. Fratelli group, for which the minimum 
future lease payments amounted to Euro 60,746, with 
Euro 13,063, due not later than 1 year, Euro 37,029 due 
later than one year but not later than five years and the 
remainder of Euro 10,654 due later than five years. 

 These contracts, entered into by the logistics com-
pany Number 1 S.p.A., have original maturity dates of 
between 12 and 15 years. The contracts are subject to 
annual indexation (Istat) of the rent rate. The contracts 
are not renewable and do not have purchase options.

•		 In	Italy	rent	contracts	exist	in	relation	to	semitrailers	
used for logistics activities, for which the total mini-
mum future lease payments amounted to Euro 7,822, 
of which Euro 2,646 is due not later than 1 year and 
Euro 5,176 due later than one year but not later than 
five years.

Total operating lease payments recognized in the income 
statement amounted to Euro 42,350 (Euro 43,369).

6.9 Goodwill
Movements in goodwill were as follows:

    Goodwill

 Movements in 2010    

 Opening balance at 01/01/2010  486,403 

 Foreign exchange differences  21,463 

 Total at 31/12/2010  507,866 

 Movements in 2011    

 Foreign exchange differences  251 

 Total at 31/12/2011  508,117 

An analysis of goodwill by segment for the purpose of per-
forming impairment tests at 31 December 2011 is summari-
zed in the table below:

 Operating Segments –  Business Units  Total

 Bakery  507,033 

 Other minor amounts  1,084 

 Total  508,117 

The annual impairment test on goodwill consists in estima-
ting the recoverable amount of the groups of cash generating 
units to which the goodwill is allocated, and comparison with 
the carrying value of the related assets including goodwill. 
The recoverable amount of the groups of cash generating 
units was determined based on the value in use, calculated 
as the present value of expected future cash flows relating to 
the groups of cash generating units.
 The cash flows utilized to determine value in use cover a 
five year period plus a terminal value. The plans are prepared in 
varying detail depending on requirements and the relevance of 
the selected variables, commencing with a series of key macro-
economic indicators (e.g. foreign exchange rates, inflation rates, 
market assumptions) and economic-financial targets.
 The flows deriving from groups of cash generating units 
at the end of the plan period correspond to the perpetual 
income based on the final year of the plan, normalized whe-
re necessary.
 The qualitative and quantitative content of the plan is 
approved by Group management. The flows generated by 
the groups of cash generating units at the end of the plan 
period correspond to the perpetual return calculated based 
on the normalized final year of the plan. 
 
The key assumptions used to perform the impairment test 
at 31 December 2011 were as follows:

 Operating Segments – Business Units

  

 Bakery 7.1% 2.0% 

Discount 
rate

Growth
rate

Based on the above assumptions, the recoverable value of the   
Bakery segment is significantly higher than the carrying value. 
 The impact of fluctuations in exchange rates on goodwill 
denominated in foreign currencies, comprising Russian Rou-
bles, Swedish Krona and Norwegian Krones, amounted to a 
net positive balance of Euro 4,241. 
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6.10 Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets consisted of the following:

2011 also witnessed an unfavorable trend in certain key 
markets, which led to a change in business strategies that 
resulted in a further decline in the profitability prospects of 
the Harrys trademark. The impairment test aiming to assess 
the recoverable amount has been developed based on usage 
value, i.e. the present value of expected future cash flows 
associated with brands, resulting in an impairment of the 
Harrys trademark amounting to Euro 23,000.
 Trademarks principally relate to Pavesi and Harrys. The 
trademarks of Barilla G. e R. (Barilla, Mulino Bianco) have 
not been recognized in the Financial Statements as they 
were developed internally. 
 Assets under construction principally relate to the 
acquisition of new “Enterprise Resources Planning” (ERP) 
software, in respect of an accounting, finance, management 
and control system, for a total of Euro 7,773 (Euro 7,291).
 The decrease in intangible assets compared to 2010 is 
due to the sale of Kamps Bakeries GmbH that has been clas-
sified as a “Change in scope of consolidation”.

 Licenses and  Trademarks Other Assets under  Total
 software   construction

  Movements in 2010           

 Opening balance at 1/1/2010           26,992             170,565             1,614           4,738          203,909  

 Acquisitions and capitalizations 13,670 944 197 7,388 22,199 

 Change in scope of consolidation  (422) – (14) – (436) 

 Disposals – 183 (1,432) (11,413) (12,662) 

 Foreign exchange differences 16 135 10 – 161 

 Amortization and impairment losses (13,096) (68,748) (79) – (81,923) 

 Total at 31/12/2010 27,160 103,079 296 713 131,248 

 Of which:      

 Historical cost 82,487 447,783 22,779 713 553,761 

 Accumulated amortization
 and impairment losses at 31/12/2010 (55,327) (344,704) (22,483) – (422,514) 

 Movements in 2011           

 Acquisitions and capitalizations 6,024 1,355 36 3,193 10,608 

 Disposals (16) – (133) – (149) 

 Foreign exchange differences (369) (79) 350 – (98) 

 Amortization and impairment losses (10,477) (34,059) (485) – (45,021) 

 Total at 31/12/2011 22,322 70,296 64 3,906 96,588 

 Of which:      

 Historical cost 88,766 356,143 22,097 3,906 470,912 

 Accumulated amortization
 and impairment losses at 31/12/2011 (66,444) (285,847) (22,033) – (374,324) 
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6.11 Trade and other receivables
Other non-current receivables comprised:

  31/12/2011 31/12/2010

 Guarantee deposits 933 1,065 

 Other non-current assets 7,022 5,496 

 Total 7,955 6,561 

The change in “Other non-current assets” compared to 
2010 is mainly due to the variation of non-current portion 
of Lieken group receivables following disposal of the produc-
tion sites in Germany.
 The fair value of trade receivables and other receivables 
approximates the carrying value reported in the financial 
statements.

6.12 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized 
separately in the balance sheet, exclusively in relation 
to temporary differences between the carrying value of 
assets and liabilities in the balance sheet and their tax 
bases. Deferred tax assets on tax losses carried forward 
are only recognized where it is probable that sufficient 
future taxable profits will be earned to allow recovery of 
these assets.
 Deferred income taxes have not been recognized on 
the undistributed earnings of subsidiaries, as the Group is 
not able to control the timing of these distributions and 
it is probable that they will not be distributed in the near 
future. 

The composition and movements in deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities analyzed by the balance sheet headings 
on which they arise are illustrated in the table below:    

At
31/12/2010

Reversals/charges
through income 

statement

Impact 
on equity

Foreign 
exchange 
impact

At 
31/12/2011

 Property, plant and equipment  (82,461) 7,693 – 125 (74,643) 

 Leasing  (6,254) 1,205  – 25 (5,024) 

 Intangible assets  2,714 (277) – 22 2,459 

 Inventories  (1,298) (5,821)  – (45) (7,164) 

 Spare parts  6,407 1,450  – 7 7,864 

 Financial liabilities and derivatives (5,955) 2,497 1,688 (6) (1,776) 

 Provisions for other liabilities and charges 17,002 (12,371)  – (174) 4,457 

 Pension funds 2,559 5,932 (372) (50) 8,069 

 Tax losses carried forward 30,351 (9,912)  – (241) 20,198 

 Other  2,270 (1,500)  – 49 819 

 Total (34,665) (11,104) 1,316 (288) (44,741) 

 Deferred income tax assets 78,539       71,725 

 Deferred income tax liabilities  (113,204)       (116,466) 

 Total (34,665)       (44,741)   
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6.13 Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets principally comprise equi-
ty investments in BRW S.p.A., amounting to Euro 1,109 and 
other non-current financial assets that total Euro 1,260 
(Euro 1,238).
 The Group does not exercise a significant influence on 
BRW S.p.A., despite holding an interest of between 20% and 
50%. 
 BRW S.p.A. operates in the advertising and communi-
cation business and the Group does not intend to sell this 
investment.

6.14 Financial receivables
Financial receivables amounting to Euro 22,064 (Euro 
20,419), mainly relate to the receivable due from Bakker-
sland group that matures in 2013.

6.15 Trade payables
Trade payables, which amounted to Euro 815,232 (Euro 
772,435), represent amounts due in relation to the purchase 
of goods and services. Trade payables are recorded at nomi-
nal value, which substantially approximates their fair value. 
All amounts are payable within one year. 
 The total includes Euro 1,343 (Euro 3,069) due to BRW 
S.p.A. The balance comprises amounts due to co-packers, 
which are governed by medium/long-term supply contracts 
negotiated at arm’s length, which do however establish gua-
ranteed minimums that are disclosed in contractual com-
mitments for finished goods supplies.

6.16 Borrowings
Current borrowings comprise amounts due within one year 
and may be analyzed as follows:

  31/12/2011 31/12/2010 

 Bank overdrafts and the  
 short-term portion of leasing obligations 17,893 10,466 

 Current portion 
 of long-term bank loans 3,885 63,778 

 Total borrowings 21,778 74,244 

 

Bank overdrafts and the short-term portion of leasing obli-
gations comprise bank overdrafts amounting to Euro 13,415 
(Euro 5,639), the short-term portion of amounts due to 
leasing companies of Euro 3,600 (Euro 3,741) and the short-
term portion of the loan due to leasing companies of the 
Lieken group that totaled Euro 877 (Euro 1,086).
 The current portion of medium/long-term bank bor-
rowings, not-guaranteed on property, plant and equipment, 
amounts to Euro 3,885 (Euro 4,532).
 In 2010 the current portion of long-term bank loans in-
cluded a portion of the syndicated loan amounting to 
Euro 59,247 and other non-guaranteed bank loans of Euro 
4,531.
 The carrying value of short-term borrowings approxi-
mates their fair value. 

6.17 Retirement benefit obligations
Retirement benefit obligations comprise amounts paid to 
employee defined benefit plans, including the staff leaving in-
demnity fund (TFR), equivalent plans and pension schemes.
 Total obligations relating to future benefits payable to 
employees amounted to Euro 147,814 (Euro 156,563), of 
which amounts due within one year are Euro 7,728 (Euro 
11,692) and due after more than one year are Euro 140,086 
(Euro 144,871).
 In Italy, the staff leaving indemnity (TFR) represents the 
deferred compensation payable by companies to employees 
on termination of employment, in accordance with article 
2120 of the Italian Civil Code. Following changes introduced 
to Italian law the TFR provision matured up to 31 December 
2006, is still considered a defined contribution plan in line 
with the TFR matured in respect of employees in enterprises 
with less than 50 employees.
  The other equivalent plans and pension schemes abroad 
relate to companies operating in France, Greece, Germany, 
Sweden, Turkey, Norway, Mexico, Switzerland and the Uni-
ted States.
 The principal features of a number of the more signifi-
cant plans are as follows:
•	 France: “Retirement Indemnity Plan”. The plan is based 

on collective bargaining and confers the right to re-
ceive a sum of money on termination of employment, 
in proportion to the number of years of service, final 
salary levels and whether termination was voluntary or 
not. For example, based on the terms of a contract for 
the commerce sector, an employee with more than 20 
years’ service with a company on voluntary termination 
of employment has the right to receive three months’ 
salary (calculated based on the average earnings or the 
12 months prior to leaving), plus 1/5 of this amount for 
each additional year over 20.

•	 Greece: “Retirement Indemnity Plan”. The plan provides 
that the employer is required to pay an indemnity when 
the employee has reached pensionable age or employ-
ment is terminated involuntarily.

 The indemnity depends on a number of factors including 
years of service, the equivalent monthly salary in the 
last year of service (including bonuses) and the reason 
for termination. A scale of multiples is also defined in 
order to scale the number of months to be paid in rela-
tion to years of service, also taking into consideration 
the reason for termination (65% of the scale is applied 
for ordinary retirement and 100% for involuntary reti-
rement). For example, on retirement an employee with 
ten years’ service in the company has the right to re-
ceive an amount equal to six times 65% of the monthly 
equivalent of final salary.

•	 Germany:	“Pension	Plan”.	This	plan	provides	for	the	
payment of an ongoing pension and not a one-off lump 
sum. The plan is based on a pre-determined percentage 
of annual salary and foresees that payment be made 
on reaching pensionable age and for invalidity, and may 
be paid in favor of the spouse.
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Inflation 
rate

2010 Discount 
rate

Expected rate 
of return on 
plan assets

Stimated 
salary 
growth

 Italy 4.45% n.a. 3.15% 2.00% 

 Germany 2.50% - 5.15% 4.92% 2.50% 2.00% 

 France  4.6% - 5.4% 5% 2.50% 2.00% 

 Greece 5.15% n.a. 3.00% 2.00% 

 Mexico 7.75% n.a. 3.50% 4.25% 

 Norway 4.00% 5.40% 4.00% 2.25% 

 Sweden 3.75% n.a. 3.00% 2.00% 

 Turkey 4.66% n.a. 5.10% 5.10% 

 Switzerland 2.75% 2.75% 6.10% 2.00% 

 United States 5.56% n.a. n.a. n.a. 

The cost of future employee retirement benefits recognized 
in the income statement is classified under the following 
headings: 

   31/12/2011 31/12/2010

 Cost of sales  2,564 6,035 

 Logistics costs  192  1,419 

 Selling costs  742  4,767 

 Marketing costs 287  302 

 General and administrative expenses,  
 technical and development costs  1,511  4,084 

 Total 5,296 16,607 

6.18 Current income tax liabilities
Current income tax liabilities amounted to Euro 4,796 (Euro 
15,424) and comprise the provision for current taxes on pro-
fit for the year.
 With regard to the Italian entities that participate in the 
group consolidated taxation regime, the current tax liability 
relates to the balance of IRAP (trade income tax). The IRES 
(corporation tax) liability was transferred to the parent com-
pany CO. FI. BA S.r.l. under the group taxation regime.

6.19 Other payables
Other payables consisted of the following:

  31/12/2011 31/12/2010

 Amounts due to parent companies  5,413 18,102 

 Amounts due to employees 103,080 115,456 

 Social security payables 26,950 27,115 

 Withholding taxes from employees,   
 consultants and freelance workers 17,353 13,895 

 VAT payable 834 2,221 

 Other taxes 4,473 5,316 

 Amounts due to customers 4,377 3,099 

 Other payables 8,359 16,727 

 Accruals and deferred income 10,262 11,397 

 Total  181,101 213,328 

•	 United	States:	“Post-retirement	medical	plan”.	This	plan	
provides medical cover (by type of medical expense) 
for retired employees aged between 55 and 65 that 
provided at least 10 years’ service and for their family 
members. Cover for a spouse is provided up until the 
age of 65. 

The retirement benefit obligations are determined applying 
actuarial calculations carried out by an independent expert 
or company, and are adjusted for events that require chan-
ges to be reflected therein.
 The last actuarial valuation was performed at 31 De-
cember 2011 using the projected unit credit method, under 
which the present value of future retirement obligations is 
determined.

  31/12/2011 31/12/2010

 Opening balance  156,563 145,596 

 Services costs  2,823   8,348 

  Finance costs  2,473   8,259  

 Actuarial (gains)/losses  (1,451)  4,924  

 Exchange differences for the year  (11)  2,483  

 Benefits paid  (12,583)  (13,047) 

 Closing balance 147,814  156,563  

 Of which:     

 - Due within one year 7,728  11,692  

 - Due after one year 140,086   144,871 

Services costs relate to the charges for the year.
 Actuarial gains were recorded in 2011, which is due to 
the general increase of the discount rate applied.

The assumptions adopted in determining retirement benefit 
obligations may be summarized as follows:

Inflation 
rate

2011 Discount 
rate

Expected rate 
of return on 
plan assets

Stimated 
salary 
growth

 Italy 4.60% n.a. 3.15% 2.00% 

 Germany 2.70% - 5.30% 2.54% 2.50% 2.00% 

 France  4.90% - 5.40% 4% 2.50% 2.00% 

 Greece 4.60% n.a. 3.00% 2.50% 

 Mexico 8.50% n.a. 3.50% 3.50% 

 Norway 2.60% 4.80% 4.00% 2.00% 

 Sweden 3.50% n.a. 3.00% 2.00% 

 Turkey 4.36% n.a. 5.10% 5.10% 

 Switzerland 2.25% 2.50% 3.00% 1.50% 

 United States 4.70% n.a. n.a. n.a.   
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Amounts due to parent companies comprise the balances 
due under the group taxation regime. 
 Accruals and deferred income largely relate to accrued 
interest payable.
 The fair value of other payables approximates the car-
rying value.

6.20 Provisions for other liabilities and charges 
The current and non-current portions of provisions for other 
liabilities and charges may be detailed as follows:

The employee risk provision and the restructuring provision 
have been recognized in relation to reorganization programs 
that include, inter alia, redundancy incentives and other fu-
ture employee obligations.
 The decrease in the tax risk provision is a result of the 
provision being used or reversed following settlement of tax 
assessments.
 The contractual risk provision principally relates to un-
settled claims against the Group. 

6.21 Borrowings
Medium/long-term borrowings may be analyzed as follows:

During the year, new bonds were issued by the subsidiary 
Barilla France SAS in the form of notes subscribed to by 
institutional investors (US Private Placement) in July 2011. 
These notes are in addition to existing notes also subscribed 
to by institutional investors in December 2003.

31/12/201131/12/2010 Charges Decreases/
utilization/

reclassification

Foreign
exchange
impact

 Employee risk provision   13,835   9,519   (12,418)  65   11,000   

 Restructuring provision   42,034   6,317   (22,286)  11   26,076   

 Tax risk provision   8,614   400   (8,413) –  601   

 Premium dealing risk   646   1,590   (604)  –    1,632   

 Contractual risk provision   16,000  –  – –     16,000   

 Returns and unsold goods provision   2,286  –    –    –    2,286   

 Revocatory provision   5,957   1,454   (3,148)  (20)  4,243   

 Litigation provision   4,730   403   (4,142)  (15)  976   

 Other provisions   8,517   8,925   (2,059)  4   15,386   

 Total   102,619  28,608 (53,070) 45  78,201   

 Of which:        

  Due within one year   67,483      46,303   

  Due after more than one year   35,136      31,898  

  31/12/2011 31/12/2010

 Bonds  382,828 202,748 

 Bank borrowings and leasing obligations 412,727 654,743 

 Total  795,555 857,491 
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Details of outstanding bonds are summarized below:

The interest rate and foreign exchange risks relating to the 
US Private Placement are hedged by Cross Currency and In-
terest Rate Swaps, details of which are provided in note 7.
 The decrease in Bank borrowings and medium/long-term 
portion of leasing obligations is mainly due to the anticipated 
closure of the credit facility, due to mature in 2012, which con-
sisted of a five-year multi-tranche syndicated loan negotiated 
with a pool of 18 leading Italian and international banks. As 
at 31 December 2010 this credit facility amounted to Euro 
595,274. Interest on the syndicated loan was variable and lin-
ked to Euribor (or Libor where drawn down in currencies other 
than the Euro) plus a spread that depended on the ratio of the 
Group’s net financial position to EBITDA.
 Bank borrowings and medium/long-term leasing obliga-
tions increased by Euro 360,000 during the year in respect of 
the amount drawn down on the new Euro 850,000 five-year 
committed Revolving Credit Facility, with a maximum availabi-
lity of Euro 850,000 and maturity within five years, which was 
negotiated during the year with a pool of 12 leading Italian and 
international banks. Interest on this credit facility is variable 
and linked to Euribor plus a spread that depends on the ratio 
of the Barilla Iniziative group’s net financial position to EBIT-
DA. The interest rate risk is partially hedged by Interest Rate 
Swaps, details of which are provided in note 6.22.
 The portion of medium/long-term leasing obligations rela-
ting to the finance leases on the cogeneration plants in Italy de-
creased to Euro 35,213 (Euro 38,820) and the leasing obligations 
of the Lieken group decreased to Euro 17,354 (Euro 20,615).
 As at 31 December 2011, the Group has undrawn irrevoca-
ble credit facilities of Euro 490,000 that mature in 2016.
 The interest rate and foreign exchange risks relating to 
the US Private Placement are hedged by Cross Currency and 
Interest Rate Swaps, details of which are provided in note 7.

The maturity dates of medium/long-term borrowings are 
illustrated in the table below:

Nominal 
value in Euro

Nominal 
value in 
currency 

(thousands)

Nominal 
coupon in $

Maturity  Carrying
value

Hedging transaction Effective 
interest 
rate in 
Euro

Annual rate
paid

 Senior notes 2003 –  Tranche B $ 180,000 5.55% 9 Dec. 2013 138,579 153,978 4.15% 4.25% 

 Senior notes 2003 – Tranche C $ 92,000 5.69% 9 Dec. 2015 71,058 78,700 4.10% 4.19% 

 Total notes 2003 $ 272,000   209,637 232,678   

 Senior notes 2011 – Tranche A $ 75,000 4.14% 15 July 2018 63,123 50,460 2.84% 2.99% 

 Senior notes 2011 –  Tranche B $ 75,000 4.76% 15 July 2021 65,479 50,562 2.95% 3.06% 

 Senior notes 2011 – Tranche C $ 50,000 4.86% 15 July 2023 44,589 33,718 2.84% 2.93% 

 Total notes 2011 $ 200,000   173,191 134,740   

 Total notes $ 472,000   382,828 367,418   

  2 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 

 Bonds  209,637 173,191 382,828 

 Bank borrowings and leasing obligations 379,434 33,293 412,727 

 Total medium/long-term bank borrowings 589,071 206,484 795,555 
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An analysis of bank borrowings, including derivative financial 
instruments, by maturity date and type of interest rate is as 
follows:

Borrowings due within one year and after more than one 
year are denominated in the following currencies:

The analysis of borrowings by date of interest rate renego-
tiation is as follows:

The effective interest rate on borrowings was 3.4% (2010 – 
2.5%). 
 The comparison between the carrying value and fair 
value of borrowings is disclosed in note 7.

Financial covenants and other contractual obligations
The bonds issued and loan contracts (the “Loans”) require 
compliance with a series of contractual obligations and fi-
nancial covenants (the “Covenants”).
 The principal covenants, defined in one or more con-
tracts, which are in line with practice in the reference mar-
ket for similar transactions, are as follows: 

 Borrower  Description Interest rate At 31/12/2011 Maturity 

 Barilla France Bonds
  (including cross currency
  and interest rate swaps) fixed-variable 362,565 2013 - 2023 

 Barilla Iniziative Revolving credit facility
  (including interest rate swap) variable 361,951 2016 

 Barilla G.e R.  Fratelli group Banks variable 17,462 2012 - 2013 

 Barilla G.e R.  Fratelli group Leasing companies fixed 38,813 2012 - 2028 

 Barilla G.e R.  Fratelli group Derivate financial instruments – 588 2012 

 Lieken group Banks (vehicles leasing) fixed 18,231 01/01/2018 - 01/01/2022  

 Lieken group  Derivate financial instruments – 418 2012 

 Total bank borrowings due within one year and after more than one year   800,028 * 

 Currency Carrying value 2011 Carrying value 2010 

 Euro 427,333 597,823 

 USD (American Dollar) 366,543 225,892 

 Other  6,152 6,743 

 Total borrowings due within one year   
 and after more than one year 800,028 * 830,458 

 Period Carrying value 2011 Carrying value 2010 

 Within 1 year 385,351 548,130 

 1 to 5 years 381,349 242,267 

 Over 5 years 33,328 40,061 

 Total borrowings due within one year
 and after more than one year 800,028 * 830,458 

 * Total financial payables at 31/12/2011, due within and after one year, are expressed net of the positive value of interest rate swaps of Euro 
37,883, in respect of the bond entered into in 2011, which are classified as “Derivative financial instruments - non-current assets”, further details of 
which are provided in paragraph 6.22.
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Financial covenants
•	 Ratio	of	net	borrowings	and	EBITDA:
•	 Ratio	of	EBITDA	and	net	interest	on	borrowings;
•	 Ratio	of	borrowings	of	operating	companies	plus	
	 borrowings	secured	by	real	guarantees	(except	where
	 permitted	contractually)	and	total	assets	in	the	Financial		
	 Statements.

Other restrictions and contractual obligations
•	 Change	of	control;
•	 Obligation	not	to	subordinate	borrowings	for	debt	
	 operations	(“pari	passu”)	and/or	grant	pledges	in	favor			
	 of	third	parties	(except	where	permitted	contractually);
•	 Maintenance	of	fundamental	elements	of	business	
	 assets	(including	trademarks,	licenses	and	intellectual		 	
	 property);
•	 Utilization	of	gains	on	disposals,	acquisition	policies
	 and	dividends	(except	where	permitted	contractually).

Default events (loss of benefits arising from the terms)
Principal	default	events,	which	are	not	applied	to	minor	
Group	companies,	are	summarized	as	follows:
•	 Failure	to	repay	loan	installments;
•	 Non-compliance	with	financial	covenants	and	other		 	
	 material	restrictions	and	contractual	obligations;
•	 Cross	default	(loss	of	benefits	arising	from	the	terms	for	
	 other	loans	that	exceed	certain	pre-determined	limits);
•	 Insolvency,	bankruptcy	and	other	administration	
	 procedures;
•	 Significant	change	in	the	Group’s	business.
Where	a	default	event	occurs,	which	is	not	rectified	within	
contractual	time	limits,	the	lenders	have	the	right	to	request	
repayment	of	all	or	part	of	sums	lent	in	accordance	with	
the	specific	loan	conditions,	together	with	interest	and	any	
other	sums	due	contractually.
	 No	defaults	arose	either	during	the	year	or	at	the	year	end.

6.22 Derivative financial instruments 

Commencing	1	January	2006,	the	Group	designated	as	cash	
flow	hedges	those	hedges	entered	into	to	cover	fluctuations	
in	interest	rates	and	foreign	exchange	rates	in	respect	of	the	
US	Private	Placement	(signed	in	2003).	The	related	fair	value	
at	31	December	2011	amounts	to	Euro	17,621.

	 	 	 31/12/2011	 	 	 31/12/2010
	 	 Assets	 	 Liabilities	 Assets	 Liabilities

		-	Cash	flow	hedge	-	Interest	rate	derivatives	 –	 19,153	 –	 19,736	

	 -	Fair	value	hedge	-	Interest	rate	derivatives	 37,883	 –	 –	 –	

	 -	Held	for	trading	-	Forward	exchange	contracts			 –	 419	 –	 –	

	 -	Held	for	trading	-	Derivatives	on	commodities	 2,586	 –	 1,138	 –	

 Total non-current portion 40,469 19,572 1,138 19,736 

	 -	Held	for	trading	-	Forward	exchange	contracts			 1,252	 137	 537	 164	

	 -	Held	for	trading	-	Derivatives	on	commodities	 1,497	 870	 2,131	 –	

	 Total current portion 2,749 1,007 2,668 164 

 Total derivative financial instruments 43,218 20,579 3,806 19,900 
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	 The	Group	designated	as	fair	value	hedges	the	derivati-
ves	entered	into	to	hedge	the	exposure	to	interest	rate	and	
foreign	exchange	fluctuations	on	the	new	US	private	pla-
cement	bond	issued	in	2011.	The	related	fair	value	of	Euro	
37,883	at	31	December	2011	was	charged	to	the	income	
statement.
	 The	following	transactions	are	in	place	in	relation	to	the	
new	committed	revolving	credit	facility:

•		 a	derivative	interest	rate	swap,	with	a	nominal	value	of	
Euro	50,000	that	expires	on	31	May	2016,	which	has	
been	designated	as	a	cash	flow	hedge.	The	fair	value	at	
31	December	2011	amounts	to	Euro	1,532.

•		 a	derivative	interest	rate	swap,	with	a	nominal	value	
of	Euro	50,000	that	expires	on	31	December	2013,	
designated	as	held	for	trading	(as	it	does	not	meet	the	
requirements	in	order	to	be	accounted	for	as	an	effecti-
ve	hedging	instrument).	The	fair	value	of	Euro	419	was	
charged	to	the	income	statement.

Derivatives	on	commodities	mainly	comprise	forward	con-
tracts	to	hedge	electricity	costs	and	derivative	contracts	on	
the	price	of	wheat.

Movements	in	the	cash	flow	hedge	reserve	were	as	follows:

The	cash	flow	hedge	reserve	includes	the	effective	portion	
of	interest	rate	hedges.
	 The	notional	value	of	the	Cross	Currency	and	Interest	
Rate	Swap	contracts	at	31	December	2011	amounts	to	Euro	
232,678	in	respect	of	the	debenture	bonds	negotiated	in	
2003	and	Euro	50,000	on	the	Revolving	Credit	Facility.	Fair	
values	are	Euro	17,621	and	Euro	1,532	respectively,	repre-
senting	a	total	Euro	19,153.
	 The	financial	risk	management	policy	is	disclosed	in	
note	7.

6.23 Other payables
Other	payables	that	amounted	to	Euro	4,616	(Euro	5,499)	
largely	represent	the	liability	in	respect	of	social	contri-
butions.	

	 	 	 2011	 	 	 2010
	 	 Gross	reserve	 	 Tax	effect	 Gross	reserve	 	 Tax	effect	

  Opening balance 12,332 (4,006) 9,052 (3,513) 

	 Change	in	fair	value	 1,725	 (611)	 18,075	 (5,984)	

	 Exchange	difference	recognized	in	income	statement	 (25)	 9	 (43)	 15	

	 Ineffective	portion	recognized	in	profit	or	loss	 (6,655)	 2,291	 (14,752)	 5,079	

	 Impact	of	change	in	tax	rates	 –	 –	 –	 397	

 Closing balance 7,377 (2,317) 12,332 (4,006) 

	 Of	which	attributable	to	the	Group	 6,270	 (1,970)	 10,482	 (3,405)	
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6.24 Equity
Share	capital
Fully	paid	share	capital	at	31	December	2011	comprised	
13,100,000	ordinary	shares	with	a	nominal	value	of	Euro	
10	each,	consisting	of	11,790,000	ordinary	shares	and	
1,310,000	B	shares.	The	B	shares	have	the	same	voting	
rights	as	ordinary	shares	in	the	ordinary	and	extraordina-
ry	shareholders’	meetings	and	hold	preference	rights	in	
the	distribution	of	profits	equal	to	6%	of	the	nominal	va-
lue	plus	the	related	share	premium	and	may	not	be	lower	
than	the	dividend	assigned	to	ordinary	shares.
	 It	should	be	noted	that	the	company	does	not	have	
holdings	in	its	own	shares,	either	directly	or	indirectly	
through	its	subsidiaries	or	associates.	
	 The	shareholders’	meeting	of	21	June	2011	approved			
the	payment	of	a	dividend	of	Euro	47,264,800	allocated	
as	follows:
•	 to	1,310,000	B	shares,	having	priority	rights	in	the		 	
	 distribution	of	profits,	a	dividend	of	Euro	19.88	per		 	
	 share	equal	to	a	total	of	Euro	26,042,800;
•	 to	11,790,000	ordinary	shares	a	dividend	of	Euro		 	
	 1.80	per	share	amounting	to	a	total	dividend	of	Euro			
	 21,222,000.
These	dividends	were	paid	on	6	July	2011.

Commitments	and	guarantees
Contractual	commitments	at	the	year-end	that	are	not	
recognized	in	the	Financial	Statements	amounted	to	Euro	
670,716	(Euro	587,436)	and	comprise:
•	 commitments	for	finished	goods	purchases,	wheat,		 	
	 other	raw	materials	and	packaging	for	Euro	634,317		 	
	 (Euro	525,228);	
•	 commitments	for	capital	expenditure	for	Euro	6,894		 	
	 (Euro	6,640);
•	 commitments	for	energy	purchases	for	Euro	29,505		 	
	 (Euro	55,568).

Contingent	liabilities		
The	Group	has	contingent	liabilities	in	respect	of	legal	and	
tax	claims	arising	in	the	normal	course	of	Group	business.	It	
is	not	anticipated	that	any	material	liabilities	will	arise	from	
contingent	liabilities	other	than	those	already	provided	in	
the	Financial	Statements.		

Consolidated income statement

6.25 Revenue
Revenue	may	be	analyzed	as	follows:

	 	 31/12/2011	 31/12/2010

	 Total	sales	of	finished	goods		 3,729,811	 3,724,563	

	 Sales	of	by-products	 53,781	 31,082	

	 Sales	of	packaging	and	other	materials	 23,233	 18,714	

	 Revenue	from	product	distribution		 	 	
	 and	franchising	services	 109,113	 128,574	

 Total 3,915,938 3,902,933 
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6.26 Detail of costs by nature
The	composition	of	costs	by	nature	in	relation	to	cost	of	
sales,	logistics	expenses,	selling	expenses,	marketing	ex-
penses,	technical	and	development	costs	and	administra-
tive	expenses,	is	illustrated	in	the	table	below:

Depreciation	on	property,	plant	and	equipment	and	
amortization	of	intangible	assets	are	classified	under	the	
following	income	statement	headings:

	 	 31/12/2011	 31/12/2010

	 Purchase	of	raw	materials,	semi-finished	goods,	finished	goods,
	 materials	and	change	in	inventories		 1,503,944	 1,341,711	

	 Purchase	of	other	materials	 43,788	 42,728	

	 Employee	costs	 711,002	 742,097	

	 Depreciation	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	and	amortization	of	intangible	assets	 180,649	 189,671	

	 Goodwill	and	intangible	fixed	assets	impairment	loss	 23,000	 53,526	

	 Transport	and	warehousing	services	 372,206	 373,289	

	 Promotional	and	advertising	services	 261,013	 283,940	

	 Maintenance	costs	 62,957	 64,292	

	 Services		 54,632	 57,965	

	 Consultancy	costs		 45,378	 46,536	

	 Third	party	manufacturing	costs	 80,449	 75,055	

	 Sales	commissions	 44,350	 48,525	

	 Utilities	 111,860	 115,308	

	 Travel	and	expenses	 23,007	 20,965	

	 Property	leases,	rentals	and	operating	leases	 42,350	 43,369	

	 Directors’	and	statutory	auditors’	emoluments	 5,573	 5,911	

	 Insurances	 14,131	 13,313	

	 Other	taxes	 8,400	 8,764	

	 Employee	training	costs	 5,415	 4,698	

	 Postage	and	telephone	expenses	 9,913	 8,728	

	 Customs	duties	 4,792	 4,519	

	 Factoring	services	 1,164	 917	

	 Others	 15,965	 17,383	

 Total 3,625,938 3,563,180 

	 	 31/12/2011	 31/12/2010

	 Cost	of	sales	 133,918	 132,206	

	 Logistics	costs	 14,271	 14,438	

	 Selling	costs	 2,611	 7,485	

	 Marketing	costs	 183	 66	

	 General	and	administrative	expenses,	technical	and	development	costs		 29,666	 35,476	

 Total 180,649 189,671 
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6.27 Other income and expenses
Other	income	and	expenses	comprised:

Net	restructuring	expenses	include	employee	costs,	im-
pairment	losses	recognized	on	plants	and	other	overheads	
relating	to	restructuring	plans	that	are	currently	underway.
	 In	2010	the	allowance	for	doubtful	accounts	was	re-
lated	to	the	increase	in	insolvency	risk	arising	from	the	fi-
nancial	exposure	of	the	trade	business,	which	is	principally	
due	to	the	current	situation	in	the	credit	market	that	has	
witnessed	decreases	in,	and	the	non-release	of,	credit	risk	
thresholds,	as	well	as	a	drop	in	the	insurance	cover	of	seve-
ral	countries.
	 In	2011	net	expenses	arising	on	disposal	of	investments	
and	businesses	related	to	the	sale	of	Harry’s	Management	
Services	Ltd	and	Harry’s	Russia	(Denmark).

	 	 31/12/2011	 31/12/2010

 Income and expenses from continuing operations:	 	 	

	 -	Gains/(losses)	-	net	on	disposals	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	 (3,711)	 (2,130)	

	 -	Insurance	repayments		 2,823	 1,363	

	 -	Net	charges	to/utilization	of	provisions	 (3,100)	 (5,559)	

	 -	Charge	to	allowance	for	doubtful	accounts	 (6,160)	 (27,745)	

	 -	Property	and	other	taxes	 (5,159)	 (7,033)	

	 -	Third	party	donations	on	behalf	of	employees	 (4,396)	 (4,485)	

	 -	Membership	fees	 (1,724)	 (1,778)	

	 -	Employee	incentives	 (11,803)	 (10,743)	

	 -	Income/(expenses)	relating	to	other	accounting	periods		 3,746	 8,083	

	 -	Bank	commission	 (1,002)	 (1,257)	

	 -	Net	services	rendered	and	other	minor	amounts		 13,503	 16,565	

 Total income/(expenses) from continuing operations (16,983) (34,719) 

	 Net	restructuring	income/(expenses)	 (55,390)	 (93,638)	

	 Net	expenses	arising	on	disposal	of	investments	and	businesses		 (1,889)	 –	

	 Total income and expenses from discontinued operations (57,279) (93,638) 

 Total other income and expenses (74,262) (128,357) 
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6.28 Finance costs - net 
Finance	costs	-	net	consisted	of	the	following:

Interest	expense	on	medium/long-term	bank	borrowings	
mainly	relates	to	the	bonds	issued	between	2003	and	2011.	
	 Commission	on	the	subscription	to	and	draw	down	of	
the	irrevocable	credit	facilities,	as	well	as	commission	on	
undrawn	amounts,	principally	relate	to	the	syndicated	loan	
negotiated	in	2007	that	was	repaid	early	during	the	course	
of	2011,	and	the	new	Euro	850,000	five-year	committed	re-
volving	credit	facility,	negotiated	during	the	year	with	a	pool	
of	12	primary	Italian	and	international	banks.	
The	above-mentioned	facility	bear	interest	at	a	variable	rate	
linked	to	Euribor	plus	a	spread	dependent	on	Barilla	Iniziative	
group’s	ratio	of	net	financial	debt	to	EBITDA.	
	 Amortized	costs	and	re-measurement	of	net	costs	on	
bank	borrowings	is	the	opposing	income	statement	entry	to	
the	change	in	the	carrying	value	of	the	multi-tranche	syn-
dicated	loan	2007-2012	(repaid	early	in	the	course	of	2011),	
arising	from	changes	in	future	cash	flows	(spread	against	
Euribor	not	linked	to	market	fluctuations),	compared	to	the	
original	estimate	used	to	calculate	the	effective	interest	
rate.	This	re-measurement	is	amortized	over	the	residual	
duration	of	the	transaction	and	includes	the	initial	value	of	
finance	costs	for	the	year	of	Euro	3,899	(Euro	2,237).
	 In	2010,	the	gain	on	sale	of	available	for	sale	financial	
assets	of	Euro	1,500,	related	to	the	sale	of	the	20%	stake	in	
Bart’s	Retail	Food	Group	B.V.
	 Other	income	and	costs	comprise	interests	on	extended	
commercial	credit	and	debit	terms.

	 	 31/12/2011	 31/12/2010

 Net costs relating to the net financial position:      

	 Interest	income	on	bank	current	accounts	 2,384	 1,920	

	 Interest	expense	on	short-term	bank	borrowings		 (1,732)	 (290)	

	 Interest	expense	on	medium/long-term	borrowings	 (9,856)	 (6,859)	

	 Interest	expense	on	bonds	 (13,168)	 (12,375)	

	 Interest	expense	on	finance	leases	 (3,410)	 (3,369)	

	 Commissions	on	subscription	and	draw	down	of	irrevocable	credit	facilities	 (2,968)	 (1,363)	

	 Income	from	securities	 –	 58	

	 Total net finance costs relating to the net financial position  (28,750) (22,278) 

 Other finance income/(costs)  	

	 Amortized	costs	and	re-measurement	of	net	costs	on	bank	borrowings	 (9,854)	 (6,224)	

	 Foreign	exchange	gains/(losses)	 (1,583)	 (61)	

	 Commissions	on	undrawn	amounts	 (1,433)	 (741)	

	 Other	income	and	costs	 1,456	 2,254	

	 Gains/(losses)	from	sale	of	available	for	sale	financial	assets	 –	 1,500	

	 Gains/(losses)	on	change	in	fair	value	of	financial	assets	 –	 (9)	

 Total other finance income/(costs) (11,414) (3,281) 

 Total finance costs - net (40,164) (25,559)   
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Foreign	exchange	gains/(losses)	consisted	of	the	following:

6.29 Income tax expense
The	total	charge	of	Euro	99,672	(Euro	137,503)	comprises	
current	taxes	of	Euro	88,568	(Euro	136,807)	and	deferred	
income	taxes	of	Euro	11,104	(Euro	696).
	 The	reconciliation	between	the	theoretical	tax	charge	
and	the	tax	charge	in	the	Financial	Statements	is	provided	
below.
	 The	effective	tax	rate	on	profit	before	income	tax,	net	
of	non-recurring	costs	that	largely	relate	to	fixed	assets	im-
pairment,	amounts	to	39.0%	(41.3%).	

The	higher	effective	tax	charge	compared	to	the	theoretical	
amount,	calculated	as	the	weighted	average	of	the	tax	rates	
in	the	countries	in	which	the	Group	operates,	is	largely	due	
to	the	fact	that	deferred	income	tax	assets	were	not	reco-
gnized	on	tax	losses	incurred	by	a	number	of	subsidiaries	
and	costs	that	are	not	deductible.	

The	nominal	tax	rates	in	the	countries	in	which	the	principal	
Group	companies	operate	are	as	follows:

	 	 31/12/2011	 31/12/2010

	 Net	realized	exchange	gains/(losses)	–	commercial	and	financial	 4,579	 3,193	

	 Net	unrealized	exchange	gains/(losses)	–	commercial	and	financial	 (6,162)	 (3,254)	

 Total net exchange gains/(losses) (1,583) (61) 

	 Year	ended
		 31	December	2011

	 Profit	before	income	tax		 175,574	

	 Theoretical	tax	charge			 52,998	

	 Unrecognized	deferred	tax	assets		 19,984	

	 Difference	in	taxable	income	for	IRAP	(trade	income	tax)	purposes	 7,208	

	 Net	non-deductible	expenses/(income)	(not	subject	to	tax)		 26,011	

	 Use	of	deferred	tax	assets	not	recognized	in	prior	periods	and	re-measurement	of	deferred	taxes	 (6,529)	

	 Effective	tax	charge	 99,672	

	 Europe	 	 North	America	 	

	 Italy	 31.40%	 USA	 40.00%	

	 Germany	 29.83%	 	 	

	 Sweden	 26.30%	 Other	

	 France	 34.43%	 Russia	 20.00%	

	 Austria	 25.00%	 Brazil	 34.00%	

	 Turkey	 20.00%	 Mexico	 30.00%	

	 Greece	 23.00%	 Australia	 30.00%	
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7. Financial instruments  
and net financial position

Risk management policies

The	Group’s	activities	expose	it	to	a	variety	of	financial	risks,	
among	which:	market	risks	(including	foreign	exchange	risk,	
interest	rate	risk	and	price	risk),	credit	risk	and	liquidity	risk.
	 As	part	of	its	risk	management	policy	and	in	order	to	
minimize	the	impact	of	these	market	risks,	the	Group	uses	
hedging	instruments	(no	speculative	instruments	are	used	or	
held).	The	Group	manages	almost	all	hedging	transactions	
centrally.	Guidelines	have	been	issued	that	govern	risk	
management	and	procedures	have	been	introduced	to	
control	all	transactions	relating	to	derivative	instruments.

(a)	Market	risk

(i) Interest rate risk
The	exposure	to	market	risk	arising	from	changes	in	rates	
is	principally	linked	to	changes	in	Euro	interest	rates,	
which	represents	the	currency	in	which	almost	all	Group	
borrowings	are	denominated.	Group	policy	is	to	maintain	a	
balance	between	the	fixed	and	variable	rate	exposure:	at	31	
December	2011,	including	the	effect	of	financial	derivatives,	
approximately	48%	(36%)	of	gross	indebtedness	bore	
interest	at	fixed	or	capped	rates.
	 The	Group	analyses	its	interest	rate	exposure	on	
a	dynamic	basis.	In	particular,	the	Group	simulates	its	
financing	requirements	and	estimated	cash	flows	applying	
varying	assumptions	based	on	economic	expectations,	
existing	positions	and	potential	renewals,	alternative	
financing,	hedging	policy	and	potential	refinancing.

Tax	losses	carried	forward	and	unrecognized	deferred	inco-
me	tax	assets	are	summarized	as	follows:

	 Company	 Tax	losses	 Period	for	which	 Rate	%	 Recognized	 Unrecognized
	 	 	 losses	may	be	 		 deferred	income	 deferred	income	
	 	 		 carried	forward	 	 tax	assets	 tax	assets

	 Academia	Barilla	 13,613	 Unlimited	 31.40%	 –	 4,275				

	 Barilla	America	Inc.	 49,314	 20	years	 40.00%	 11,597	 	8,128	

	 Barilla	America	NY	 12,502	 20	years	 40.00%	 	–				 5,001	

	 Barilla	Do	Brazil	 930	 Unlimited	 34.00%	 547	 	–				

	 Barilla	Sverige	 18,174	 Unlimited	 26.30%	 	3,871		 909	

	 Harrys	Cis	Russia	 45,853	 10	years	 20.00%	 	–				 9,171	

	 Barilla	Canada	 2,013	 20	years	 32.00%	 –				 644	

	 Barilla	Norge	 299	 Unlimited	 28.00%	 85	 –	

	 Barilla	France	 11,354	 Unlimited	 34.43%	 4,098	 –	

	 Finba	Bakery	Holding	GmbH	 42,563	 Unlimited	 15.83%	 –	 6,223	

 Total 196,615     20,198 34,351 
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Sensitivity analysis
The potential post-tax effects on the income statement 
and total equity of a +0.5/-0.25% percentage point 
change in interest rates with all other conditions remaining 
unchanged, applied to the Group’s variable rate borrowings 
at 31 December would have amounted to:

 Income/charge - (cost/increase) 2011 2010

  +0.5% -0.25% +0.5% -0.5% 

 Post-tax impact on 
 income statement  (782) 377 (1,368) 1,368 

 Post-tax impact 
 on total equity* 478 (243) 229 (235) 

 * The impact on total equity does not include the profit for the year.

The tax effects were calculated applying the Group’s 
effective tax rate at 31 December 2011 and 2010.

(ii) Foreign exchange risk
As the Group operates an international business, it is 
exposed to the risk that exchange rate fluctuations 
have on its assets, liabilities and cash flows generated 
outside the Euro area. In general the Group is not heavily 
exposed to foreign exchange risk: the risk that arises in the 
normal course of business is managed through a policy of 
compensating assets and liabilities, using, where necessary, 
derivative contracts (principally forward foreign exchange 
contracts).

Sensitivity analysis
The analyses included receivables and payables 
denominated in foreign currencies and derivative financial 
instruments.
 At 31 December 2011 and 2010 the potential post-
tax effects on the income statement of a strengthening/
devaluation of the Euro against the other foreign currencies, 
with all other conditions remaining equal, would have 
amounted to:

 Income/charge - (cost/increase) 2011 2010

  +10% -10% +10% -10% 

 Post-tax impact 
 (income statement) (5,316) 5,316 (5,088) 5,088 

 Post-tax impact 
 (total equity)* 574 (574) 858 (858) 

 * The impact on total equity does not include the profit for the year.

(iii) Price risk
The Group manages the mitigation of risks relating to trends 
in the prices of commodities used in the production process, 
mainly through medium-term supplier purchasing contracts, 
using also to a limited extent derivative contracts on wheat.
 Hedging contracts are entered into in respect of the 
Sweden electrical energy market using the “Nord Pool” 
mechanism.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk represents the risk that one of the parties to 
a transaction does not fulfill the financial obligations 
undertaken. This risk relates to outstanding trade 
receivables, securities and cash and cash equivalents, and 
operations with banks and other financial institutions 
comprising: deposits and other transactions, derivative 
instruments and the ability to meet the covenants on the 
irrevocable credit facilities.
 The Group’s retail counterparties are concentrated in 
the modern trade channel. 
 The Group periodically assesses the credit quality of 
its counterparties and utilizes credit limits that are regularly 
monitored.
 Insurance policies have been entered into in respect of 
a portion of commercial receivables in order to cover losses 
arising from non-recovery.
 With regard to credit risk on bank deposits and the 
investments in bonds, the Group has established exposure 
limits for each bank (that evolves continuously depending 
on the rating, the level of Credit Default Swaps and market 
information). 

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to render liquidity risk reasonably 
remote. This is achieved through the constant availability of 
funding through undrawn irrevocable credit facilities, which 
allows reasonably foreseeable, future financial commitments 
to be met, also taking into account the Group’s significant 
cash flows. 
 At 31 December 2011, the Group held undrawn credit 
facilities maturing in 2016 of approximately Euro 490,000 in 
addition to cash and cash equivalents in excess of Euro 100 
million.
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Categories of financial instruments

In order to provide full financial risk disclosures, the 
reconciliation between the categories of financial assets 
and liabilities as reported in the Group balance sheet and 
the categories of financial assets and liabilities identified in 
accordance with IFRS 7 is presented below:

  Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 

 At 31 December 2011     

 Borrowings with banks, other lenders and finance leases  34,774 643,735 192,309 870,817 

 Derivative financial instruments through profit or loss 1,006 – – 1,006 

 Trade and other payables 1,001,129 4,616 – 1,005,745 

 Total 1,036,909 648,351 192,309 1,877,568 

  Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total 

  At 31 December 2010     

 Borrowings with banks, other lenders and finance leases  92,083 888,208 40,061 1,020,352 

 Derivative financial instruments through profit or loss 164 – – 164 

 Trade and other payables 1,001,187 5,498 – 1,006,685 

 Total 1,093,434 893,706 40,061 2,027,201 

31 December 2011 Financial assets 
at fair value 

through profit 
or loss

Receivables 
and financial 
receivables

Available-for-sale 
financial assets

Financial 
liabilities at 
fair value 

through profit 
or loss

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortized 

cost

Hedging 
derivatives

Fair value

 Available-for-sale
 financial assets not quoted       
 on an active market  – – 1,260 – – – n. a. 

 Derivatives (assets) 1,272 – – – – 41,946 43,218 

 Trade and other receivables – 737,745 – – – – 737,745 

 Cash and cash equivalents – 107,163 – – – – 107,163 

 Borrowings with banks 
 and other lenders – – – – 817,333 – 841,235 

 Trade payables –    815,232 – 815,232 

 Other payables – – – – 190,514 – 190,319 

 Derivatives (liabilities) – – – 1,426 – 19,153 20,579 

 Total 1,272 844,908 1,260 1,426 1,823,078 61,099 – 

An analysis of financial liabilities by maturity is provided 
in the table below. The maturity dates were based on the 
period between the balance sheet date and the contractual 
maturity of the obligations. The amounts in the table 
represent the undiscounted cash flows including interest 
estimated applying year-end exchange rates. 
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The market value of borrowings with banks and other 
financial institutions was determined as follows:
•  with regard to the variable rate syndicated loan, 

considering the same credit rating, the nominal 
repayment value was used, as the adjustment of future 
lending rates in line with Euribor determined by the 
markets ensures the substantial alignment in values;

•  with regard to the US Dollar fixed rate US Private 
Placement, the net present value of future coupon and 
capital flows, calculated using the current market IRS 
rate increased by the spread between coupons and 
the IRS rate at the time of issuance, with all amounts 
converted to Euro at the current exchange rate;

•  for all other borrowings, given the low value and 
the fact that these largely relate to short-term and/
or variable rate instruments, the carrying value is 
considered to correspond to their fair value.

With regard to equity investments in unquoted companies 
included in the category available-for-sale financial assets, 
the fair value cannot be reasonably determined. 
 These investments are recognized at cost. Further 
details are provided in note 6.13

Net financial position (alternative indicator of 
performance not required by accounting standards)
The net financial position of the Group at the year end 
represents the sum of financial receivables and payables 
that originated respectively from borrowings and deposits, 
cash, bank, and postal accounts, securities classified as 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The net 
indebtedness of the Group at 31 December 2011 amounted 
to Euro 687,530 compared to Euro 682,725 in 2010, which 
included the foreign exchange and interest rate derivatives 
that are marked-to-market.             
 Derivatives entered into to hedge the risk relating to 
commodities used in the production process, included in the 
above total, have a positive mark-to-market of Euro 3,213 
(2010 - Euro 3,269).

The Group’s net financial position may be summarized as 
follows:

  31/12/2011 31/12/2010

 Cash and cash equivalents 107,163 265,104 

 Current financial assets 
 at fair value (including derivatives) 2,749 2,668 

 Banks and other borrowings 
 (including derivatives)  (22,784) (74,408) 

 Short-term net financial position  87,128 193,364 

 Non-current financial
 assets at fair value 40,469 1,138 

 Borrowings (including derivative) (815,127) (877,227) 

 Medium/long-term net
 financial position (774,658) (876,089) 

 Total net financial position (687,530) (682,725) 

Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives with regard to capital risk management 
are to safeguard the ability to continue as a going concern in 
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders. The Group also aims to maintain an optimal 
capital structure in order to reduce the cost of debt.
 The Group monitors capital on the basis of the 
ratio between the net financial position and EBITDA (an 
alternative performance indicator). 
 This ratio is an indicator of the ability to repay borrowings 
and is normalized in order to exclude non-recurring items.

31 December 2010 Financial assets 
at fair value 

through profit 
or loss

Receivables 
and financial 
receivables

Available-for-sale 
financial assets

Financial 
liabilities at 
fair value 

through profit 
or loss

Financial 
liabilities at 
amortized 

cost

Hedging 
derivatives

Fair value

 Available-for-sale financial
 assets not quoted 
 on an active market  – – 1,238 – – – n. a. 

 Derivatives (assets) 853 – – – – 2,952 3,805 

 Trade and other receivables – 674,862 – – – – 674,862 

 Cash and cash equivalents – 265,104 – – – – 265,104 

 Borrowings with banks         
 and other lenders – – – – 931,735 – 965,321 

 Trade payables – – – – 772,435 – 772,435 

 Other payables – – – – 234,251 – 234,251 

 Derivatives  (liabilities) – – – 164 – 19,736 19,900 

 Total 853 939,966 1,238 164 1,938,421 22,688 – 
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Analysis of operating profit from continuing operations 
(EBIT-EBITDA):

  2011 2010

 Operating profit* 215,738 210,950 

 Goodwill and intangible
 fixed assets impairment losses 23,000 53,526 

 Expenses and losses 
 on discontinued operations 57,279 93,638 

 Operating profit from 
 continuing operations (EBIT)  296,017 358,114 

 Amortization and impairment 
 losses of intangible fixed assets 
 (continuing operations)  22,021 28,370 

 Depreciation and impairment 
 losses of tangible fixed assets 
  (continuing operations) 158,628      169,601 

 Operating profit from 
 continuing operations before 
 depreciation, amortization and 
 impairment losses on fixed 
 assets (EBITDA) 476,666 556,085 

 *Includes discontinued operations.

This ratio at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010 was 
as follows:
   
  2011 2010

 Net financial position  687,530 682,725 

 EBITDA 476,666 556,085 

 EBITDA/net financial position ratio 1.44 1.23 
 

8. Disclosures in accordance with IAS 24 
for related party transactions 
and key management compensation

8.1 Key management compensation
Key management with authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the Group’s activities 
are the executive and non-executive directors, represented 
by the Managing Directors and Finance Directors of Barilla 
Holding and the principal Group operating subsidiaries.

Total compensation paid to these individuals is presented 
below:
   (Euro thousands)

 Key management compensation 2011 2010

 Short-term benefits 21,259 17,464 

 Post-employment benefits 982 689 

 Other long-term benefits 4,986 4,630 

 Total 27,227 22,783 

8.2 Related parties
Transactions with other Group companies and related 
parties are not considered to be uncharacteristic or unusual 
as they are carried out in the normal course of business. 
These transactions take place on an arm’s length basis, 
where possible taking into account market conditions. 
 PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. has been engaged to 
perform the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of Barilla Holding Group, for the years from 2010 to 2012, 
as required by Italian law (Article n. 14 – Legislative Decree 
39 of the 2010 and articles n. 2409-bis et seq of Italian 
Civil Code). The 2011 fees in respect of the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements amount to Euro 837. 

8.3 Relationships with company bodies
The emoluments of the directors of Barilla Holding Società 
per Azioni for 2011 amounted to Euro 4,050. 
 The remuneration of the Board of Statutory Auditors of 
Barilla Holding in relation to Group engagements amounted 
to a total Euro 567 in 2011.
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Annexes            
Annex 1 – List of consolidated companies
 
       
 Company, headquarter and activity Currency Share Capital  % Group Through

   ownership   

Barilla Iniziative S.r.l. & Co. K.G.
Prinzenallee, 13 - Düsseldorf (Germany) Euro 100,000  85.000  85.000 Barilla Holding
Financial company     Società per Azioni  
 
Barilla Iniziative S.r.l.
Via Mantova, 166 - Parma (Italy) Euro 101,000,000  85.000  85.000 Barilla Holding
Financial company    Società per Azioni  
 
Logi - K S.r.l
Via Mantova, 166 - Parma (Italy) Euro 10,000 85.000  100.000 
Services company    Barilla Iniziative S.r.l. 

Finba Bakery Holding GmbH
Prinzenallee, 11 - Düsseldorf (Germany) Euro 25,000 85.000  100.000 Barilla  
Financial company    Iniziative S.r.l.
 
Lieken AG    6.000 Barilla 
Prinzenallee, 11 - Düsseldorf (Germany)    Iniziative S.r.l. & Co. KG
Financial company Euro 83,505,255 85.000  94.000 Finba Bakery Holding GmbH

Logi - K GmbH
Auf’m Halskamp, 11 - Garrel (Germany) Euro 100,000 85.000  100.000 
Distributive logistic services    Lieken AG

Lieken IT Service GmbH        
Auf’m Halskamp, 11 - Garrel (Germany) Euro 25,565 85.000  100.000  
Services company    Lieken AG     
     
Lieken Brot - und Backwaren GmbH   
Auf’m Halskamp, 11 - Garrel (Germany) Euro 535,000 85.000 100.000
Production and trade    Lieken AG   

Scherpel GmbH
Prinzenallee, 11 - Düsseldorf (Germany) Euro 11,248,421 85.000  100.000 
Production and trade    Lieken Brot - und Backwaren GmbH 
   
Zimmermann GmbH   
Max-Planck-Straße, Erkrath (Germany) Euro 50,000 85.000  100.000   
Production and trade     Lieken Brot - und Backwaren GmbH 
   
Kornmark GmbH   
Auf’m Halskamp, 11 - Garrel (Germany) Euro 25,000 85.000  100.000   
Production and trade    Lieken Brot - und Backwaren GmbH 
   
Julia Grundstuecksverwaltungsgesellschaft 
GmbH & Co. Vermietungs - KG   
Mannheim (Germany) Euro 135,492 79.900 94.000 
Leasing    Lieken Brot - und Backwaren GmbH 
  
Linda Grundstuecksverwaltungsgesellschaft GmbH   
Monaco (Germany) Euro 25,564  de facto control Lieken AG 
Leasing    ended in 2011   
      
Silur Grundstuecks - Vermietungsgesellschaft 
GmbH & Co. KG   
Eschborn (Germany) Euro 1,000  
Leasing    de facto control Lieken AG 
 
Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni
Via Mantova, 166 - Parma (Italy) Euro 180,639,990 85.000  100.000
Production and trade    Barilla Iniziative S.r.l.  
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Barilla Servizi Finanziari S.p.A.
Via Mantova, 166 - Parma (Italy) Euro 30,000,000 85.000  100.000   
Leasing    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni
   
Academia Barilla S.p.A
Via Mantova, 166 - Parma (Italy) Euro 100,000 85.000  100.000  
Trade     Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
 
F.I.R.S.T. Retailing S.p.A.
Via Mantova, 166 - Parma (Italy) Euro 5,000,000 85.000  100.000
Trade     Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni

F.I.R.S.T. Commerciale S.r.l.
Via Mantova, 166 - Parma (Italy) Euro 10,000 85.000  100.000
Trade    F.I.R.S.T. Retailing S.p.A.

Barilla Hellas S.A.
26 Pappou & Akragantos Str. - Atene (Greece) Euro 5,634,440 85.000  100.000
Production and trade     Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
 
Barilla America Inc.        
1200 Lakeside Drive
60015 -1243 - Bannockburn, Illinois (USA) USD 1,000 85.000  100.000
Production and trade    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni

Barilla Do Brasil LTDA    99.99999 
A.V. Pinzon, 144 - 7° Andar CJ 71 e 72    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni
Vila Olimpia - San Paolo (Brasil) BRL 4,396,068 85.000  0.000001   
Trade    Barilla Servizi Finanziari S.p.A.  
       
Barilla Japan K. K.
Minami - Aoyama Minato - ku, Tokyo (Japan) JPY 10,000,000 85.000  100.000
Trade     Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni

Barilla Austria GmbH        
Grabenweg 64 - 6020 Innsbruck (Austria)  Euro 436,000 85.000  100.000 Barilla G. e R. Fratelli  
Trade      Società per Azioni  
 
Barilla Mexico S.A. de C.V.
Calzada San Bartolo Naucalpan
360 Col. Argentina Ponente
Deleg. Miguel Hidalgo, MXN 227,348,096 42.500  50.000
11230 Città del Mexico (Mexico)    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni
Production and trade
  
Serpasta Pastificio S.A. de C.V.   
Calzada San Bartolo Naucalpan    2.000
360 Col.  Argentina Ponente    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni
Deleg. Miguel Hidalgo,
11230 Città del Mexico (Mexico) MXN 50,000 42.500  96.000    
Production and trade    Barilla Mexico S.A. de C.V.
       
Number 1 Logistics Group S.p.A.        
Via Mantova, 166 - Parma (Italy) Euro 5,000,000 85.000  100.000 
Distributive logistic services    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
  
Barilla España S.L.        
Zurbano, 43 - Madrid (Spain) Euro 3,100 85.000  100.000    
Trade     Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
 
Barilla Canada Inc.        
26, Yonge Street, 1500
Toronto on m5c 2w7 (Canada) CAD 10,000 85.000  100.000 
Trade    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
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Barilla Gida A.S.        
Kosifler Plaza, serin Sk, No: 9,  
A Blok, Kat: 6 Icerenkoy 
34752 Istanbul - (Turkey) TRL 2,940,000 84.996  99.995    
Production and trade     Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni

Barilla Switzerland A.G.        
Ruetistrasse, 32 - 8702 Zollikon (Switzerland) CHF 1,000,000  85.000  100.000     
Trade    Barilla Netherlands B.V.

Barilla Sverige AB        
80 Commune - Stoccolma (Sweden) SEK 5,000,000  85.000  100.000
Production and trade     Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni
 
Barilla Norge AS        
Sandvikavegen 55 - 2312 Ottestad        
N - 2301 Hamar (Norway) NOK 1,950,000 85.000  100.000
Production and trade     Barilla Sverige AB  
 
Barilla Danmark A/S        
Mileparken, 18 DK - 2740 Skovlunde (Denmark) DKK 500,000 85.000  100.000
Trade    Barilla Sverige AB  

Barilla Poland Sp. Z.o.o.        
ul. Poleczki, 23 - 822 Varsavia (Poland) PLN 14,050,000 85.000  100.000
Trade    Barilla Sverige AB

Barilla Deutschland GmbH
Ettore Bugatti Strasse, 6 - 14, 
D - 51149 Colonia (Germany) Euro 51,100 85.000  100.000
Production and trade    Barilla Sverige AB  
 
Barilla Australia PTY Ltd       
George Street – NSW Sidney (Australia) AUD 24,550,000 85.000  100.000 
Trade    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
        
Barilla Netherlands B.V.  
Lange Dreef, 13i - 4131 NJ Vianen (Netherlands) Euro 90,000 85.000  100.000 
Trade    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
   
Barilla Adriatik d.o.o.        
Trzaska cesta, 315 - Ljubljana (Slovenia) Euro 50,000 85.000  100.000    
Trade    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
 
Barilla America N.Y. Inc.        
Livington County, New York (USA) USD 1,000 85.000  100.000  
Production and trade    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni

Harrys CIS LLC        
Butyrski Tupik 1 Solnechnogorsk
141500 Mosca (Russia) RUB 500,000,000 85.000  100.000
Production and trade     Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni

ZAO KONDI        
132 Mendeleeva - Ufa (Russia) RUB 10,198,050 85.000  100.000 
Production    Harrys CIS LLC  
 
Barilla France SAS        
103 Rue de Grenelle - 75007 Parigi (France) Euro 126,683,296 85.000  100.000 
Production and trade    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni

Barilla Singapore Pte Ltd        
80 Robinson Road, Singapore (Singapore)     SGD 200,000 85.000  100.000
Commercial company    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
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Harry’s Management Services Ltd        
Bunnian Place, Basingstoke - RG 21 7 JE GBP 0,25 85.000 100.000  
Hants (UK)    Barilla France SAS 
Financial Company    Investment disposed during 2011 
       
Harry’s Restauration SAS 
72 Route de Chauny - 02430, Gauchy (Francia) Euro 153,000 85.000 100.000
Production and trade    Barilla France SAS   
       
Barilla Belgium SA    71.200   
19 Boulevard de France,  Euro 693,882 85.000 Barilla Netherlands B.V.
1420 Braine l’Alleud (Belgium)     28.800    
Trade    Barilla France SAS   
   
Harry’s Russia A/S        
69St Kogenssgarde    100.000
DK 1264 Copenaghen (Denmark) DKK 363,679,000 85.000  Barilla France SAS
Financial company    Investment disposed during 2011
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Annex 2 - List of investments in associated and other companies    
       

       
 
        
BRW S.p.A.        
Via Savona, 97 - Milano (Italy) Euro 6,306,121  24.650  29.000
Advertising    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
 
Fiere di Parma S.p.A.        
Via delle Esposizioni, 393A
Baganzola - Parma (Italy) Euro 21,741,950  0.297  0.329
Fair activities    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni

CE.P.I.M. S.p.A.        
Piazza Europa - 43010 Fontevivo - Parma (Italy) Euro 6,642,928  0.323 0.380
Warehousing    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
  
Immobiliare Caprazucca S.p.A.         
Str. Al ponte Caprazucca, 6 - Parma (Italy) Euro 7,517,948  0.00002  0.00003
Other    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
       
S.I.GRA.D. Scrl        
Via Domenico Chelini, 7 - 00197 Roma (Italy) Euro 40,000  2.125  2.500
Farmer’s union     Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
 
SOGEAP - Aeroporto di Parma 
Società per la gestione S.p.A.
Via dell’Aeroporto, 44/a Euro 19,454,528  0.0005  0.0006
43010 Fontana - Parma (Italy)    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni
Other     

Pallino Pastaria Company        
1207 208th Avenue S.E. - Sammamish        
98075 Washington (USA) USD 501,500 11.747  13.820
Production and trade    Barilla America Inc.  
 
Italia del Gusto - Consorzio Export
La gastronomia di marca
Viale Mentana, 41 - Parma (Italy)  Euro 95,000 4.477  5.263
Trade    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
 
COMIECO        
Via Litta Pompeo, 5 - 20122 Milano (Italy) Euro 32,020 0.0343  0.040 
Other    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
  
CO.NA.I.
Via Tomacelli, 132 - Roma (Italy) Euro 12,941,029 0.083 0.098 
Other    Barilla G. e R. Fratelli Società per Azioni 
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Annex 3 - Currency rates of exchange      
 
Main rates of exchange used to convert consolidated financial statement are set below:

 AUD Australian Dollar 1.3484 1.2723 

 BRL Brazilian Real 2.3265 2.4159 

 CHF Swiss Franc 1.2326 1.2156 

 DKK Danish Krone 7.4507 7.4342 

 GBP British Pound 0.8679 0.8353 

 JPY Japanese Yen 110.9590 100.2000 

 MXN Mexican Pesos 17.2877 18.0512 

 NOK Norwegian Krone 7.7934 7.7540 

 PLN Polish Zloty 4.1206 4.4580 

 RUB Russian Rouble  40.8846 41.7650 

 SEK Swedish Krone 9.0298 8.9120 

 TRY Turkish Lira 2.3378 2.4432 

 USD American Dollar 1.3920 1.2939 

 CAD Canadian Dollar 1.3761 1.3215 

 SGD Singapore Dollar 1.7489 1.6819 

 Balance Sheet
year end 12/31/2011

Profit & Loss
average 2011
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Corporate information
and contacts

Barilla Holding - Società per Azioni

Registered office and headquarters
Via Mantova, 166 - 43122 Parma - Italy

Share capitale: Euro 131,000,000.00 fully paid-in.
Parma company register, Tax ID
and VAT no. 02068780341
R.E.A. Parma no. 208304
UIC no. 31011

Tel. +39 0521 2621
Fax +39 0521 270621
relazioniesterne@barilla.it
www.gruppobarilla.it
www.barillagroup.com

Barilla photo archive
Stefano Zardini

Editing and layout
Studio Norma (Parma - Italy)

Printing
Grafiche Step (Parma - Italy)
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